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DIRECTORS’ REPORT 
For the year ended 31 December 2020

 The Directors present their report for Lynx UCITS 
Fund (the “Fund”), a sub-fund of the Lynx UCITS 
ICAV (the “ICAV”), and audited financial statements 
for the year ended 31 December 2020.

The Directors have opted to prepare separate re-
ports and financial statements for each of the ICAV’s 
sub-funds in accordance with the Irish Collective Asset-
management Vehicles Act 2015 (as ameded) (the “ICAV 
Act”). As of 31 December 2020, the ICAV has establis-
hed one other sub-fund, Lynx Active Balanced Fund. 
The reports and financial statements for Lynx Active Ba-
lanced Fund are available free of charge on request from 
the Manager. Any reference hereafter to the reports and 
financial statements will mean the reports and financial 
statements for Lynx UCITS Fund.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES AND FUTURE DEVELOPMENTS  
A detailed review of the Fund’s activities for the year en-
ded 31 December 2020 and the Fund’s outlook is inclu-
ded in the Investment Manager’s Report on pages 9-15. 

DIRECTORS’ RESPONSIBILITIES STATEMENT  
The Directors are responsible for preparing the Direc-
tors’ Report and financial statements, in accordance with 
applicable law and regulations.   

The ICAV Act requires the Directors to prepare fi-
nancial statements for each financial year. Under that 
law, they have elected to prepare the financial state-
ments in accordance with International Financial Re-
porting Standards (“IFRS”) as adopted by the Euro-
pean Union (“EU”). 

The financial statements are required to give a true 
and fair view of the assets, liabilities and financial posi-
tion of the Fund at the end of the financial year and of 
the profit or loss of the Fund for the financial year.

In preparing these financial statements, the Directors 
are required to:   
• select suitable accounting policies and then apply 

them consistently;   
• make judgements and estimates that are reasonable 

and prudent;  
• state whether they have been prepared in accordance 

with IFRS as adopted by the EU; and 
• prepare the financial statements on the going con-

cern basis unless it is inappropriate to presume that 
the ICAV will continue in business.   
The Directors are responsible for keeping adequate 

accounting records which disclose with reasonable ac-

curacy at any time the assets, liabilities, financial posi-
tion and profit or loss of the Fund and enable them 
to ensure that the financial statements comply with 
the ICAV Act, the European Communities (Underta-
kings for Collective Investment in Transferable Secu-
rities) Regulations 2011 (as amended) and the Central 
Bank (Supervision and Enforcement) Act 2013 (Sec-
tion 48(1)) (Undertakings for Collective Investment in 
Transferable Securities) Regulations 2019 (“The Cen-
tral Bank UCITS Regulations”). They have general re-
sponsibility for taking such steps as are reasonably open 
to them to safeguard the assets of the ICAV. In this 
regard, they have entrusted the assets of the ICAV to 
HSBC Continental Europe as Depositary, for safekeep-
ing. They have general responsibility for taking such 
steps as are reasonably open to them to prevent and 
detect fraud and other irregularities. The Directors are 
also responsible for preparing a Directors’ Report that 
complies with the requirements of the ICAV Act.

RESULTS, FINANCIAL POSITION AND DIVIDENDS 
The results of operations for the year and the financial 
position as at the year end are set out in the Statement of 
Comprehensive Income and the Statement of Financial 
Position on page 20 and 19 respectively. There were no 
dividends declared during the year. 

KEY PERFORMANCE INDICATORS
The Directors consider that the change in net asset value 
(“NAV”) per share is a key indicator of the performance 
of the Fund. Key performance indicators (“KPIs”) moni-
tored by the Directors for the Fund include the month 
to month movement in the NAV per share, and the share 
capital movements.

RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES  
The main risks arising from the Fund’s financial instru-
ments as defined by IFRS 7 for financial reporting pur-
poses are market risk (including market price risk, inte-
rest rate risk and foreign currency risk), credit risk and 
liquidity risk as detailed in Note 11 on pages 34-40 in 
these financial statements.

DIRECTORS WHO HELD OFFICE DURING THE YEAR 
The Directors who held office at any time during the 
year were: Brian Dunleavy, Fiona Mulhall and Marcus 
Andersson.
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DIRECTORS’ AND SECRETARY’S INTERESTS  
IN SHARES OF THE ICAV AND ITS FUND  

None of the Directors nor the ICAV Secretary or their 
respective families held any interest, beneficial or other-
wise, in the share capital of the ICAV during or at the 
end of the financial year.

 
TRANSACTIONS INVOLVING DIRECTORS  

Other than as disclosed in Note 15 on page 43 to the 
financial statements, there were no contracts or agre-
ements of any significance in relation to the business of 
the ICAV or the Fund in which the Directors had any 
interest, as defined in the ICAV Act, at any time during 
the year. 

 
TRANSACTIONS WITH CONNECTED PERSONS  

Regulation 43(1)of the Central Bank UCITS Regula-
tions require in effect that any transaction carried out 
with a UCITS by a management company or deposi-
tary to the UCITS, the delegates or sub-delegates of the 
management company or depositary, and any associated 
or group of such a management company, depositary, 
delegate or sub-delegate (“connected persons”) must be 
carried out as if negotiated at arm’s length. Transactions 
must be in the best interests of the shareholders.  

The Directors are satisfied that there are arrangements 
(evidenced by written procedures) in place, to ensure that 
the obligations set out in Regulation 43(1) of the Central 
Bank UCITS Regulations are applied to all transactions 
with connected persons, and are satisfied that transac-
tions with connected persons entered into during the 
year complied with the obligations set out in Regulation 
43(1) of the Central Bank UCITS Regulations. 

 

ACCOUNTING RECORDS  
The Directors believe that they have complied with the 
requirements of Sections 109 to 113 of the ICAV Act, 
with regard to keeping adequate accounting records. The 
Directors have appointed HSBC Securities Services (Ire-
land) DAC to maintain adequate accounting records.

The address at which this business is located is as fol-
lows:  

1 Grand Canal Square
Grand Canal Harbour
Dublin 2
Ireland

SIGNIFICANT EVENTS DURING THE YEAR  
Significant events during the year are disclosed in Note 
16 on page 43. 
 

SUBSEQUENT EVENTS  
Subsequent events are disclosed in Note 17 on page 43.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE CODE (THE “CODE”) 
Irish Funds, the association for the funds industry in 
Ireland, has published a corporate governance code that 
may be adopted on a voluntary basis by Irish authorised 
investment funds. The Board of Directors have adopted 
the Code, and the ICAV was in compliance with all ele-
ments of the Code during the year. 
 

AUDITORS 
KPMG, Chartered Accountants, have expressed their 
willingness to continue in accordance with Section 
125(1) of the ICAV Act.

On behalf of the Board of Directors
22 April 2021

 Brian Dunleavy Fiona Mulhall
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INVESTMENT MANAGER’S REPORT 
For the year ended 31 December 2020

PERFORMANCE OVERVIEW 
The Lynx UCITS Fund ended 2020 up 4.62 per cent1 
as a strong finish to the year brought performance so-
lidly into positive territory. Commodities and fixed in-
come were primarily responsible for the gain as foreign 
exchange ended largely flat while equities detracted 
considerably from the annual result. The positive return 
brings annualized performance for the Lynx program 
since inception to 9.52 per cent2 with an annualized 
standard deviation of 14.90 per cent. As in recent years, 
the result compares favorably to the Société Générale 
CTA Index (a leading industry benchmark) which en-
ded 2020 up 2.98 per cent. 

Unsurprisingly, the emergence and escalation of the 
coronavirus had the greatest impact on market prices and 
performance during the year. In the commodities, ener-
gies were particularly profitable as short positions in the 
crude oil complex prospered as prices collapsed in the first 
half of the year, although agricultural markets and metals 
also contributed positively. In fixed income, long positions 
across the US yield curve were responsible for much of 
the gain as rate expectations declined dramatically on that 
nation’s extraordinary monetary and fiscal policy response 
to the pandemic. Conversely, sharp losses in global equity 
indices in February and March were only partially recou-
ped by gains later in the year as heightened volatility kept 
exposures constrained relative to previous levels. 

By model family, short-term trend-following models 
performed particularly well as markets dislocated early in 
2020, while medium-term counterparts ultimately pro-
ved more profitable due to gains generated throughout 
the remainder of the year. Long-term trend models were 
flat as less reactive frequencies were unable to navigate the 
price action as effectively. Meanwhile, diversifying mo-
dels had more difficulty as modest losses accrued across 
timeframes; short- and medium-term models slightly 
underperformed those with longer-term holding periods. 

YEAR IN REVIEW
Few mourned the end of 2020 when the calendar changed 
to the new year. Tragically, over two million people have 
already died due to COVID-19 as of the writing of this 
letter and virtually everyone in the world has been im-
pacted by the coronavirus in some way. While the longer-
term implications of the pandemic remain unclear, most 

people welcomed the hope that the new year brought.
Very little seemed normal in 2020. The Olympics 

were postponed and Wimbledon cancelled, both for 
the first time since World War II. Movie theatres were 
shuttered, museums closed, and festivals and concerts 
around the globe called off. Life, as we knew it, came to 
an abrupt halt. Economically, the world also experienced 
the largest recession since the Great Depression as most 
countries – with few notable exceptions – closed their 
borders to foreign nationals and enforced quarantines in 
an attempt to control the spread of the virus. 

News surrounding infection and mortality rates do-
minated the headlines as the pandemic unfolded. Markets 
initially behaved as would be expected given the cata-
strophic impact that COVID was having on the world. 
Equities plummeted along with industrial commodities. 
At one point in April, WTI crude oil futures for May de-
livery traded deeply into negative territory, confounding 
traders and risk managers who had never considered that 
possibility. Global bond yields similarly collapsed to histo-
ric lows and, as the crisis escalated, the US Treasury market 
dislocated forcing the Federal Reserve Bank of New York 
to take drastic action to provide liquidity and stability.

However, as the year progressed, the overwhelming 
response from policy makers and central bankers came 
decidedly into focus. Additionally, in unprecedented co-
operation between public and private institutions, mul-
tiple vaccines were developed and granted governmental 
approval for emergency use. By early December, these 
began to be distributed to those at the greatest risk from 
the virus, less than a year after it was first identified. De-
spite logistical delays and limited availability, particularly 
in underdeveloped nations, vaccinations began to pave 
the way towards a return to normalcy.

The effect of these policy measures and biomedical 
initiatives on financial and commodity markets was 
phenomenal, and somewhat surprising. The disloca-
tions from the spring were all but gone by early summer, 
setting the stage for the recovery experienced over the 
remainder of the year. Stock markets around the world 
began climbing at the beginning of the second quarter 
and continued virtually unabated through December, 
while bond yields began to reflect more sanguine projec-
tions for the future. Meanwhile, extraordinary US fiscal 
stimulus and expectations of more to come in the new 

1 The performance figure is represented for Class I USD.
2  The Lynx program is a trading strategy which is proprietary developed by Lynx Asset Management and was launched in May 2000.
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year, drove the US currency down against most global 
counterparts; the dollar index ended the year over 12 per 
cent below the peak reached in March. 

However, even though 2020 will undoubtedly be 
marked by the coronavirus in history books, there were 
many other extraordinary events that occurred during 
the year that impacted markets and could similarly leave 
a lasting impression on the world. 

Increasingly volatile and unpredictable weather 
was undeniable during the year. Devastating bushfires 
in Australia which ultimately burned 47 million acres, 
wildfires in California displacing thousands of residents, 
and the most active Atlantic hurricane season on record 
with 30 named storms, highlighted some of the weather 
extremes experienced in 2020. 

The impact on commodities was unmistakable, par-
ticularly in agricultural markets which saw production 
decline dramatically on abnormally dry conditions. Soy-
beans, which have been in deficit in recent years due 
to increasing global demand – particularly from China 
– initially experienced the strongest price appreciation. 
However, after South American farmers dramatically in-
creased bean planting in response to higher prices, other 
grains similarly rallied. As Brazil and Argentina entered 
their prime growing season later in the calendar year, the 
weather did not cooperate, exacerbating production con-
cerns. Corn, soybean, and wheat prices all ended 2020 
at multiyear highs, leaving future crop planning in limbo 
and creating speculation that prices could continue to 
climb in 2021.

Extraordinary events occurred across the globe on the 
political front, as well. In the US, Donald Trump faced 
impeachment entering the year and encountered a bitter 
election campaign in the fall which ultimately resulted in 
a new president being chosen. After the election, claims 
of rampant voter fraud, faulty voting machines, and col-
lusion spawned the “Stop the Steal” movement which 
questioned the validity of the result. These allegations 
continued into the new year, and on January 6th, Trump 
supporters stormed the US Capitol as Congress was 

meeting to affirm Joe Biden’s Electoral College victory. 
Remarkably, the violence had little impact on financial 
markets, as major US stock indices hit new records later 
that same week. Trump was subsequently impeached by 
the House of Representatives a second time for allegedly 
“inciting the insurrection,” becoming the first president 
in history with that ignoble distinction.

In Europe, after multiple delays and failed attempts 
to reverse the decision by opposition parties within the 
British government, the UK formally left the European 
Union on January 31st, 2020. The two sides then had 
eleven months to negotiate commercial terms to repla-
ce Eurozone trade agreements. Perhaps unsurprisingly, 
these discussions continued up until the final days of 
the year when both sides signed the EU–UK Trade and 
Cooperation Agreement (TCA). Equity and foreign ex-
change markets responded favorably to the development 
as stocks rallied along with the euro and British pound, 
although the latter remained well below where it was 
prior to the initial Brexit vote.

Elsewhere in the world, Shinzo Abe resigned from of-
fice after serving as prime minister for the longest period 
in the history of Japan and was replaced by Yoshihide 
Suga, his Chief Cabinet Secretary. Meanwhile in Russia, 
Vladimir Putin successfully championed a constitutional 
amendment allowing him to seek another two terms in 
office once his current one ends. Nationalism and pro-
tectionism were in vogue, while globalization continued 
to decline. 

China’s decision to implement new National Security 
laws criminalizing subversive activities in Hong Kong 
(along with secession, terrorism and colluding with fo-
reign governments) was met with widespread condem-
nation around the globe and concern that the move ero-
ded the principle of “one country, two systems.” The US 
implemented sanctions targeting Chinese government 
officials and corporations with affiliations to the Chinese 
Communist Party, adding tension to an already strained 
relationship. Trade negotiations subsequently deteriora-
ted, although the market impact was cushioned by the 
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Chart 1. Net exposure by asset class in 2020 for the Lynx program.
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3  Class E USD and Class I USD had no investors as per 31 December 2020. The performance figures are pro forma based on realised 
return Class D USD and with adjustment for fee structure.

4  Referring to the Class I USD.

extraordinary fiscal and monetary stimulus by global 
central banks in response to the coronavirus. 

The potential for geopolitical conflict in the Middle 
East remained elevated, particularly early in the year, as 
the killing of a top Iranian general during a drone stri-
ke prompted a retaliatory attack against Western forces 
in Iraq. Rallies protesting against inequality and human 
rights abuses also demanded attention, and while the mar-
ket impact of demonstrations and geopolitical friction was 
muted, tensions remained elevated entering the new year. 

ANALYSIS OF THE RESULT
The Fund’s total return for the twelve-month period by 
share class is shown in the table below 3.

Class E EUR 3.03
Class E USD 4.21
Class D USD 4.31
Class I EUR 2.73
Class I USD 4.62
Class I CHF  2.49

The annual return of 4.62 4 per cent in 2020 was lar-
gely due to gains in commodities and fixed income. In 
commodities, energy trading was particularly profitable 
as models maintained short exposure early in the year 
and prospered as markets collapsed on slowing global 
growth forecasts and abundant supply. Crude oil prices 
recovered in the second half as production fell to ac-
count for lower demand resulting in a giveback of some 
of the earlier gains, although the models ultimately re-
versed exposure and capitalized on a December rally. 

Gains in agricultural markets were due primarily 
to long positions in the soybean complex, while both 
precious and base metals contributed positively. Trend-
following models were profitable in commodities across 
timeframe, although medium-term holding periods were 

responsible for most of the gain from diversifying models 
as long-term timeframes had difficulty in precious metals. 

Fixed income profits were generated in both bonds 
and short-term interest rates. Long positions across the 
US curve were particularly profitable, especially early in 
the year, as previously optimistic predictions of growth 
were revised amid the pandemic. Largest gains were 
realized in the Eurodollar, although profits were gene-
rated in every US Treasury future traded in the port-
folio. Longer duration German, UK and Australian 
bonds also yielded positive results, although losses in 
Italy and shorter-dated German instruments mitigated 
those gains. Medium- and long-term timeframes were 
responsible for the success of trend-following models, 
as short-term holding periods found the environment 
more challenging. Meanwhile, all diversifying time-
frames produced positive results – albeit to a significant-
ly lesser degree than trend – with medium-term models 
performing particularly well.

Foreign exchange performance was essentially flat, 
as early losses were recouped in the final two months 
of the year. The program entered 2020 with sizeable 
long exposure to the US dollar as models expected a 
continued appreciation in the currency. However, as 
the coronavirus crisis spiralled out of control in March, 
global central bank policy converged, as the US Fede-
ral Reserve cut overnight lending rates aggressively in a 
reversal of their previous tightening trajectory. The dol-
lar weakened dramatically as a result, leading to sharp 
losses. Models were quick to reverse exposure midway 
through the year and capitalized on a continuation of 
the downward trend in the second half, offsetting earlier 
losses. Modest gains from trend-following models were 
neutralized by declines from diversifying counterparts, 
with long-term trend and medium-term diversifying 
models performing relatively well. 
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Chart 2. Contribution to performance by Asset Class during 2020.
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Despite strong performance in the second half of 
the year, losses were realized in equities, primarily due 
to declines in late February and March. Prior to the co-
ronavirus exploding across the world, the Lynx program 
held substantial long exposure in global stock indices, 
maintaining a maximum net long position in the sector 
in the days leading up to the crisis. While the models 
quickly reduced positions as prices fell and volatility 
expanded, losses nonetheless accumulated. The extraor-
dinary policy response and optimism surrounding the 
development of vaccines resulted in an unprecedented 
reversal in prices. Long positions were again built to ca-
pitalize on the recovery, although exposures remained 
below the peak from earlier in the year due to higher 
estimated risk. Trend-following and diversifying models 
were both negative contributors. Amongst the trend-fol-
lowing models, medium- to long-term timeframes were 
particularly unprofitable while the shorter-term holding 
periods were faster to adapt to the quickly changing en-
vironment, thereby mitigating the loss. Medium-term 
models had the most difficulty in the diversifying cluster.

Overall, solid gains were generated in trend-follo-
wing while diversifying models detracted from perfor-
mance in 2020. Medium- and short-term trend time-
frames outperformed longer-term counterparts, while 
modest declines were seen across holding periods for 
diversifying models. 

The tables below show a summary of returns by asset 
class and model category, respectively.

Return by Asset Class 5 2020 2019
Commodity-related investments 11.2% -9.3%
Fixed income-related investments 9.6% 19.1%
Currency-related investments 0.0% -5.3%
Equity-related investments -14.5% 10.3%
Other (management fees, interest, etc.) -1.7% 0.6%
Total Return  4.6% 15.4%

Return by Model Type  2019
Trend following models   8.2% 12.4%
Of which short-term 1.8% -0.4%

medium-term 6.8% 8.0%
long-term -0.4% 4.8%

Diversifying models -1.9% 2.4%
Of which short-term -0.6% 0.1%

medium-term -1.2% 2.6%
long-term -0.0% -0.3% 

Other (management fees, interest, etc.) -1.7% 0.6%
Total Return  4.6% 15.4%

RISK UTILIZATION
To achieve the Lynx program volatility target of 18 per 
cent annualized volatility, the average Value at Risk 
(“VaR”) for the portfolio should equate to approxima-
tely 1.9 per cent (1-day, 95 per cent confidence interval). 
During 2020, the average VaR for the Lynx program was 
around 1.3 per cent. 

The Fund’s risk utilization is decided by the under-
lying models and the risk is directed to those markets 
where the models identify the best opportunities. En-
tering 2020, portfolio VaR was at a relatively elevated 
level as models maintained high conviction positions 
in equity index futures and commodities. VaR declined 
over the first seven weeks of the year as risk mitigating 
positions in fixed income increased, however the dra-
matic increase in volatility across asset classes in late 
February into March resulted in a spike in expected 
portfolio risk. Models adjusted positions to account for 
the new regime, and realized volatility from the first 
quarter kept exposures muted until the late spring. VaR 
thereafter returned to normal levels and remained that 
way through the rest of the year, other than for a short 
period in September as models reduced positions in 
equities and fixed income dramatically in response to 
adverse price action.

5  The comparative figures for 2019 represents the period 1 March to 31 December 2019.
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Chart 3. VaR developments by asset class and on a portfolio basis for the Lynx program in 2020.
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Chart 3 on page 12 illustrates the change in risk 
during the year as measured by VaR (1 day, 95 per cent 
confidence interval) as well as the risk for the four sectors 
separately:

 
INVESTMENT PROCESS

The six portfolio managers of the Lynx program consti-
tute the investment committee and are responsible for 
the strategic direction and management of the fund. 
As trading decisions are made by the 40 plus models 
currently employed in the program, the investment 
committee focuses primarily on longer term matters 
including: determining which models are included in 
the portfolio and the risk allocated to each, as well as 
setting the average risk budgeted to each asset class and 
market. 

The model lineup and risk allocations are formally 
re-evaluated twice a year in June and December. The 
investment committee and the research team work dili-
gently throughout the year leading up to these revisions. 
As early as four months before the actual implementa-
tion, the research department submits proposals for new 
models and each model is carefully evaluated by a re-
ference group in the research team and the investment 
committee. To be approved by the investment commit-
tee, a new model must not only demonstrate the ability 
to generate positive results across multiple time periods, 
but also display attractive return characteristics in several 
key aspects. The metrics used in model evaluation in-
clude the expected marginal contribution to the existing 
portfolio of models and behaviour in extreme market 
situations. In addition, the model’s underlying founda-
tional concept is assessed and analysed.

As part of the semi annual evaluation, all models 
that are already employed in the portfolio are revie-
wed to ensure that performance has not deviated from 
historical expectations. Their contribution to the port-
folio return is also analyzed as this contributes to the 
decision of how much risk to budget over the coming 
months. Significant advancements in our approach to 
forecasting correlation and other model characteristics 
in recent years have resulted in a more reliable and 
robust portfolio construction process. These develop-
ments continued in 2020, and the weight placed on the 
output of statistical portfolio optimization increased as 
a result. While the investment committee continued 
to have the final say on allocation decisions to models 
and asset classes, we firmly believe that the process has 
improved markedly. 
During the year, six new models were added to the 
portfolio, while three models were retired. As in recent 
years, more sophisticated implementations of trading 
concepts replaced older, legacy models. Additionally, 
more reactive shorter-term models utilizing trend-
following, machine learning, and quantitative macro 
techniques were introduced, contributing to increased 

adaptivity of the portfolio. A short description of the 
new models follows:

- The first model added utilizes non-price-based 
economic and financial data to forecast bond pri-
ces; the approach is similar to two other sector-
specific quantitative macro models currently in 
the portfolio. 

- The second model is a multivariate short-term mo-
del following trends on factors and employing 
adaptive parameters. 

- The third model uses flow data for equity ETFs 
and mutual funds to forecast regional equity in-
dex performance. 

- The fourth and fifth models are both intraday 
machine learning models employing artificial 
neural networks which use filtered market return 
data and seasonality information as the primary 
inputs. 

- Finally, the sixth model selects a range of normali-
zed linear filters to apply to intraday market data 
based on maximum variance, using the output 
from these together with seasonal information to 
create the optimal portfolio.

The following models have been retired during the year:
- The first model retired was one of the original 

multivariate trend-following models used in the 
program; since this model was introduced, oth-
ers employing similar concepts have been added 
which have generated more attractive risk-ad-
justed returns. 

- The second model was a medium-term diversi-
fying model that had underperformed expecta-
tions and was never budgeted any substantial risk 
weight since inception. 

- The final model retired utilized a mean reversion 
approach; over the years, the mean-reverting mo-
dels in the Lynx program have been decommissi-
oned and replaced by adaptive machine learning 
techniques and other diversifying models.

While the year-end allocation by model type was iden-
tical to that from December 2019 (72 per cent allo-
cated to trend-following models and 28 per cent to 
diversifying models), the weight allocated to long-term 
strategies was reduced slightly with the risk shifted to 
short- and medium-term models. These changes were 
made with the objective of making the portfolio mo-
destly more adaptive to price action. The average risk 
allocation amongst asset classes remained unchanged, 
with fixed income and equities each budgeted 28 per 
cent, while foreign exchanged received 23 per cent and 
commodities 21 per cent.

The table below illustrates the allocations to each 
model category as of the end of 2020 compared to these 
same figured from the end of 2019 (in parentheses): 
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Target allocation between model types6

 Trend-following Diversifying 
 models models
Short-term 14% (10) 3% (3)
Medium-term 42% (38) 18% (21)
Long-term 13% (22) 10% (7)

More information on all programs managed by Lynx 
can be found at www.lynxhedge.se.

SUSTAINABILIT Y INFORMATION
In order to invest responsibly, Lynx is dependent upon 
the health and the efficient functioning of the financial 
markets as well as of the society in a wider perspective. 

Lynx ultimately believes that ESG factors can po-
tentially have a material impact on long-term financial 
performance. Poorly managed ESG risks can lead to inef-
ficiencies, operational disruptions, and reputational risk, 
which may ultimately impact our ability to meet our fi-
nancial responsibilities. Sustainability factors are conside-
red as part of the broader investment process, meaning 
that any ESG related risk in traded instruments is assessed 
carefully vis-à-vis other risks. The approach ensures that 
Lynx´s investment teams are aware of, and taking infor-
med investments decisions with, knowledge of key ESG 
related matters that ultimately might have an impact on 
an investment´s risk and/or return. We focus on the most 
liquid markets and our exposure and trading volumes are 
designed to be small in relation to the open interest and 
daily traded volume to minimize our market impact.

As the Fund invests in derivatives which do not carry 
voting rights, we are unable to exercise active ownership 
or influence companies in the same way as equity funds. 
Instead, we engage with other asset managers, policy 
makers and derivatives exchanges to reassure investors 
that we truly value the characteristics and practices that 
we preach.

Sustainability activities in 2020
With more capital flowing into ESG strategies, global 
exchanges – including Eurex and CME Group – have 
recently launched a series of new equity index futures 
tied to ESG benchmarks. In light of our commitment 
to responsible investing and our aspiration to be early 
adopters, we are currently in the process of evaluating 
a handful of ESG derivatives for potential inclusion in 
our investment universe. Derivatives exchanges have de-
veloped standards for commodity contracts. As an ex-
ample, the London Metal Exchange (“LME”) acts as one 
of the primary marketplaces for industrial metals, and 
the contracts traded on that exchange are closely tied to 
the physical market for these metals. As consumers have 
grown more concerned about the impact of the mining 
and metals industries, the LME has responded by explo-

ring ways to incorporate ESG standards into its contract 
specifications (standards on responsible sourcing). Lynx 
currently trades aluminium, copper, lead, nickel, and 
zinc on the LME and has established governing policies 
and internal controls to assess our exposure, including a 
review of contract specifications before new instruments 
are added to our portfolio.

Where our interests and approaches are aligned, Lynx 
engages with other market participants to apply the con-
cept of responsible investments and to improve standards 
for the industry. We regularly attend conferences and se-
minars and participate in panels. 

Lastly, we regularly train our staff on code of ethics/
compliance issues covering hedge fund investments and 
responsible investments.

Reporting
The Investment Manager has adopted a firm-wide po-
licy that outlines how we apply sustainability principles 
at a firm level and in our investment process, and how 
we promote responsible investment throughout the in-
dustry. The policy is approved by the Board of the In-
vestment Manager, most recently in May 2020. As our 
knowledge and experience in this area deepens, we will 
review and update this document on a continuous basis 
– at least annually. The Board of the Investment Mana-
ger shall also ensure that compliance with this policy is 
enforced within the firm, and that this is done within 
the framework of the company’s internal control pro-
cedures.

Lynx has been a signatory of the United Nations Prin-
ciples for Responsible Investment (UN PRI) since 2016. 
The PRI are aimed at introducing and implementing ESG 
aspects in our daily work and in our investments. Lynx 
reports annually to PRI on its responsible investment ac-
tivities.

Lynx is a signatory of the Standards Board for Alter-
native Investments (SBAI). The SBAI is an initiative that 
is aimed at creating and promoting standards of good go-
vernance, transparency, valuation, risk management and 
shareholders’ conduct for the alternatives industry. Our 
compliance with the standards can be found in the “Dis-
closure letter”, available upon request. 

Significant work was made during the year in order to 
comply with disclosure requirements due to the EU Sus-
tainable Finance Disclosure Regulation which came into 
effect on 10th March 2021.

ASSETS UNDER MANAGEMENT
Total assets under management in the Lynx program at 
the end of 2020 were approximately SEK 42.6 billion, 
compared with SEK 45.9 billion at the end of 2019. 
Notably, the decrease was due to the relative strengthe-
ning of the Swedish krona, as the US dollar equivalent 

6 Due to diversification effects the numbers in the table do not sum up to total risk per model type.
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invested increased over this period from US $4.9 billion 
to US $5.2 billion. Most of the program’s assets are in-
vested in separately managed client accounts and in the 
offshore funds.

FIRM RESPONSE TO COVID-19
The rapid progression of the coronavirus around the 
globe led the Lynx Crisis Management Team (CMT) to 
initiate procedures to directly address the potential harm 
to employees and the business in March. Considering 
guidance and advice from the Public Health Agency of 
Sweden (Folkhälsomyndigheten), several precautionary 
actions were taken to control the spread of the virus. 
Additionally, the business continuity plan (BCP) was 
initiated to further mitigate the risk that an escalating 
crisis could result in an interruption of the normal fun-
ctioning of the business.

As of the writing of this letter, we continue to restrict 
access to our headquarters in Stockholm, Sweden, in line 
with governmental recommendations. All employees have 
remote access to Lynx systems through secured connec-
tions and can conduct their normal job functions away 
from the office. To support a “work from home” model, 
we have a redundant Gigabit internet connection which 
is tested daily. Additionally, we periodically test the ro-
bustness of our remote connectivity platform during BCP 
tests. To date, employees have not reported any material 
connection problems and our business has continued to 
operate normally.

OUTLOOK
The continued distribution of coronavirus vaccines 
around the globe is anticipated to eventually increase 
population immunity to a level where further transmis-
sion is limited. Once this happens, life will hopefully 
begin returning to normal. Some behavioural changes 
that have occurred over the past year are unlikely to im-
mediately revert, however others should change quickly. 
Household spending during the pandemic collapsed for 
obvious reasons. However, as financing rates have decli-
ned and governments have distributed money directly 
to their populations, consumption will likely increase as 
the year progresses.

The enormous increase in money supply by central 
banks in response to the global financial crisis and (more 
recently) the coronavirus pandemic, was meant to in-

spire spending and spur growth. For various reasons, 
inflation remained muted over the past decade. Howe-
ver, many believe that the conditions are now ripe for a 
change. Productivity is likely to increase as economies 
phase out COVID-related restrictions, while fiscal sti-
mulus should accelerate the recovery and increase job 
growth into the future. Inflation has not been a market 
risk for forty years, but it may become one soon.

Many opportunities could develop for Lynx in a ri-
sing rate environment. Over the past decade, most com-
modities have tended to trade around their marginal 
cost of production. When demand across industrial and 
agricultural markets has increased, the supply response 
has been immediate and efficient. However, inflatio-
nary pressures could contribute to a sustained increase 
in commodity prices not experienced since the 1980’s. 
Further, higher yields could increase the attractiveness of 
bonds, potentially decreasing demand for equities. The 
heightened volatility that would likely arise from this 
shift could be beneficial for shorter-term models, while 
trend-following and diversifying models could benefit 
from a shift in market prices. 

As we have discussed in the past, our models do not 
have an opinion on inflation, politics, or global climate 
change. Rather, they use price and fundamental data to 
systematically and objectively analyse market behaviour, 
attempting to forecast how markets will move in the 
future. They are adaptive and opportunistic and have 
historically performed particularly well when there are 
significant shifts in the natural price equilibrium of mar-
kets. The impact from the tremendous changes that have 
occurred over the past year in response to the coronavi-
rus has yet to be fully understood. We believe that the 
Lynx program is prepared to capitalize on the market 
opportunities that should arise as the world adapts. 

As always, Lynx remains committed to managing 
your capital responsibly and profitably.  We are invested 
alongside our clients in every program we manage, alig-
ning our interests directly with our investors. We hope 
to reward your confidence in us with solidly profitable, 
differentiated returns in 2021 and beyond.
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ANNUAL DEPOSITARY REPORT  
TO THE SHAREHOLDERS

 We, HSBC Continental Europe appointed Deposi-
tary to Lynx UCITS Fund (the “Fund”) provide this 
report solely in favour of the Shareholders for the year 
ended 31 December 2020 (“the Accounting Year”). This 
report is provided in accordance with the UCITS Re-
gulations - European Communities (Undertakings for 
Collective Investment in Transferable Securities) Regu-
lations 2011, as amended (“the Regulations”). We do 
not, in giving this opinion, accept or assume responsi-
bility for any other purpose or to any other person to 
whom this report is shown. 

In accordance with our Depositary obligation as pro-
vided for under the Regulations, we have enquired into 

the conduct of the Fund for the Accounting Year and we 
hereby report thereon to the Shareholders of the Fund 
as follows;

We are of the opinion that the Fund has been mana-
ged during the Accounting Year, in all material respects:

(i) in accordance with the limitations imposed on the 
investment and borrowing powers of the Fund by the 
constitutional documents and the Regulations; and

(ii) otherwise in accordance with the provisions of 
the constitutional documents and the Regulations.

On behalf of

HSBC France, Dublin Branch
1 Grand Canal Square 
Grand Canal Harbour

Dublin 2
Ireland

22 April 2021
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT
TO THE SHAREHOLDERS OF LYNX UCITS FUND

REPORT ON THE AUDIT OF THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Opinion

We have audited the financial statements of Lynx UCITS 
Fund (‘the Sub-Fund’) for the year ended 31 December 
2020 set out on pages 19 to 44, which comprise the sta-
tement of financial position, statement of comprehensive 
income, statement of changes in net assets attributable 
to holders of redeemable participating shares, statement 
of cashflows and related notes, including the summary 
of significant accounting policies set out in note 2. The 
financial reporting framework that has been applied in 
their preparation is Irish Law and International Financial 
Reporting Standards (IFRS) as adopted by the European 
Union.

In our opinion, the accompanying financial state-
ments:

• give a true and fair view of the assets, liabilities 
and financial position of the Sub-Fund as at 31 
December 2020 and of its increase in net assets 
attributable to holders of redeemable participa-
ting shares for the year then ended;

• have been properly prepared in accordance with 
IFRS as adopted by the European Union; and

• have been properly prepared in accordance with 
the requirements of the Irish Collective Asset-
management Vehicles Act 2015 (as amended) and 
the Central Bank (Supervision and Enforcement) 
Act 2013 (Section 48(1)) (Undertakings for Col-
lective Investment in Transferable Securities) Re-
gulations 2019.

Basis for opinion
We conducted our audit in accordance with Interna-
tional Standards on Auditing (Ireland) (ISAs (Ireland)) 
and applicable law. Our responsibilities under those 
standards are further described in the Auditor’s respon-
sibilities for the audit of the financial statements section 
of our report. We are independent of the Sub-Fund in 
accordance with ethical requirements that are relevant to 
our audit of financial statements in Ireland, including 
the Ethical Standard issued by the Irish Auditing and 
Accounting Supervisory Authority, and we have fulfil-
led our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with 
these requirements.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained 
is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our 
opinion.

We have nothing to report on going concern
We are required to report to you if we have concluded 
that the use of the going concern basis of accounting is 
inappropriate or there is an undisclosed material uncer-
tainty that may cast significant doubt over the use of that 
basis for a period of at least twelve months from the date 
of approval of the financial statements. We have nothing 
to report in these respects.

Other information
The directors are responsible for the other information 
presented in the Annual Report together with the finan-
cial statements. The other information comprises the in-
formation included in the directors’ report, investment 
managers report, depository’s report and supplemental 
unaudited information including schedule of invest-
ments, schedule of portfolio changes and appendix. The 
financial statements and our auditor’s report thereon do 
not comprise part of the other information. Our opinion 
on the financial statements does not cover the other in-
formation and, accordingly, we do not express an audit 
opinion or, except as explicitly stated below, any form of 
assurance conclusion thereon.

Our responsibility is to read the other information 
and, in doing so, consider whether, based on our finan-
cial statements audit work, the information therein is 
materially misstated or inconsistent with the financial 
statements or our audit knowledge. Based solely on that 
work we have not identified material misstatements in 
the other information.

Opinion on other matter prescribed  
by the Irish Collective Asset-management Vehicles 

Act 2015 (as amended)
In our opinion, the information given in the Directors’ 
Report is consistent with the financial statements.

Matters on which we are required to report  
by exception

The Irish Collective Asset-management Vehicles Act 
2015 (as amended) requires us to report to you, if in 
our opinion, the disclosures of Directors’ remuneration 
specified by law are not made. We have nothing to report 
in this regard. 
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RESPECTIVE RESPONSIBILITIES  
AND RESTRICTIONS ON USE

Responsibilities of directors for  
the financial statements

As explained more fully in the directors’ responsibilities 
statement set out on page 7, the directors are responsible 
for: the preparation of the financial statements inclu-
ding being satisfied that they give a true and fair view; 
such internal control as they determine is necessary to 
enable the preparation of financial statements that are 
free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud 
or error; assessing the Sub-Fund’s ability to continue as 
a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters rela-
ted to going concern; and using the going concern basis 
of accounting unless they either intend to liquidate the 
Sub-Fund or to cease operations, or have no realistic al-
ternative but to do so.

Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit  
of the financial statements

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about 
whether the financial statements as a whole are free from 
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, 
and to issue an auditor’s report that includes our opini-
on. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but 
is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance 

with ISAs (Ireland) will always detect a material miss-
tatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from 
fraud or error and are considered material if, individually 
or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to 
influence the economic decisions of users taken on the 
basis of these financial statements.  

Other information
A fuller description of our responsibilities is provided 
on IAASA’s website at https://www.iaasa.ie/getmedia/
b2389013-1cf6-458b-9b8f-a98202dc9c3a/Description_
of_auditors_responsiblities_for_audit.pdf. 

The purpose of our audit work and  
to whom we owe our responsibilities

Our report is made solely to the shareholders of the Sub-
Fund, as a body, in accordance with the Section 120 
of the Irish Collective Asset-management Vehicles Act 
2015. Our audit work has been undertaken so that we 
might state to the Sub-Fund’s shareholders those matters 
we are required to state to them in an auditor’s report 
and for no other purpose. To the fullest extent permit-
ted by law, we do not accept or assume responsibility 
to anyone other than the Sub-Fund and the Sub-Fund’s 
shareholders, as a body, for our audit work, for this re-
port, or for the opinions we have formed.

Colm Clifford

for and on behalf of 

KPMG
Chartered Accountants, Statutory Audit Firm

1 Harbourmaster Place
International Financial Services Centre

Dublin 1
Ireland

Date: 22 April 2021
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Notes 31 December 2020
USD

31 December 2019
USD

assets

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss 2(e), 3,4
-Investment funds - 5,162,345
-Transferable securities 31,725,270 49,260,857
-Financial derivative instruments 1,888,879 989,402 
Cash and cash equivalents 2(h) 718,115 1,655,672
Cash held as collateral 2(o) 1,520,022 366,327
Due from brokers 2(n) 3,299,535 -
total assets 39,151,821 57,434,603

liabilities

Financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss 2(e), 3,4
-Financial derivative instruments (298,565) -
Cash received as collateral 2(o) (160,000) -
Due to brokers 2(n) - (195,369)
Audit fees payable (17,915) (13,348)
Administration fees payable 5(d) (1,848) (5,716)
Directors’ fees payable 5(f ) (16,262) (15,795)
Depositary fees payable 5(e) (1,711) (1,568)
Investment management fees payable 5(a) (23,344) (37,140)
Performance fees payable 5(c) - (1,221)
Other payables 6 (20,662) (25,971)
liabilities (excluding net assets attributable to holders  
of redeemable participating shares) (540,307) (296,128)

net assets attributable to holders of redeemable participating shares 38,611,514 57,138,475

On behalf of Board of Directors:

Brian Dunleavy Fiona Mulhall

Date 22 April 2021

STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
As at 31 December 2020
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Notes 31 December 2020
USD

31 December 2019*
USD

investment income

Interest income 2(j) 9,425 38,924
Other income 6,188 -
Net gains on financial assets and financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss 3 5,100,515 11,314,607
Net losses on foreign exchange (1,197,649) (209,746)
total investment income 3,918,479 11,143,785

operating expenses

Audit fees 5(g) (19,874) (13,196)
Administration fees 5(d) (30,147) (48,205)
Directors’ fees 5(f ) (19,017) (39,985)
Depositary fees 5(e) (21,402) (25,530)
Investment management fees 5(a) (329,974) (447,030)
Performance fees 5(c) - (40,395)
Transaction costs (49,808) (51,918)
Other expenses 7 (44,099) (48,010)
total operating expenses (514,321) (714,269)

operating profit 3,404,158 10,429,516

finance costs

Interest expense 2(j) (10,321) (1,123)
total finance costs (10,321) (1,123)

increase in net assets attributable to holders  
of redeemable participating shares from operations 3,393,837 10,428,393

* For the period from 1 March 2019 (commencement of operations) to 31 December 2019.

STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
For the year ended 31 December 2020
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31 December 2020
USD

31 December 2019*
USD

net assets attributable to holders of redeemable participating 
shares at the beginning of the year/period 57,138,475 -
Issue of redeemable participating shares 12,719,646 96,381,994
Redemptions of redeemable participating shares (34,640,444) (49,671,912)
Increase in net assets attributable to holders of redeemable participating 
shares from operations 3,393,837 10,428,393
net assets attributable to holders of redeemable participating 
sharesat the end of the year/period

38,611,514 57,138,475

*For the period from 1 March 2019 (commencement of operations) to 31 December 2019

STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN NET ASSETS ATTRIBUTABLE  
TO HOLDERS OF REDEEMABLE PARTICIPATING SHARES
For the year ended 31 December 2020
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31 December 2020
USD

31 December 2019*
USD

cash flows from operating activities

Net increase in net assets resulting from operations 3,393,837 10,428,393
Net (gains) on financial assets and financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss (5,100,515) (11,314,607)
Purchase of financial assets (78,326,827) (183,298,279)
Proceeds from sale of financial assets 99,150,741 142,760,460
Proceeds/(payments) on settlement of financial derivative instruments 6,373,621 (3,560,178)
(Increase) in due from broker (3,299,535) -
(Increase) in cash held as collateral (1,153,695) (366,327)
Increase in cash received as collateral 160,000 -
(Decrease)/increase in due to brokers (195,369) 195,369
(Decrease)/increase in performance fees payable (1,221) 1,221
Increase in audit fees payable 4,567 13,348
(Decrease)/increase in investment management fees payable (13,796) 37,140
(Decrease)/increase in administration fees payable (3,868) 5,716
Increase in depository fees payable 143 1,568
Increase in directors’ fees payable 467 15,795
(Decrease)/increase in other payables (5,309) 25,971
net cash provided by/(used in) operating activities 20,983,241 (45,054,410)

cash flows from financing activities

Proceeds on the issue of redeemable participating shares 12,719,646 96,381,994
Payment on redemption of redeemable participating shares (34,640,444) (49,671,912)
net cash (used in)/provided by financing activities (21,920,798) 46,710,082

Net (decrease)/increase in cash and cash equivalents (937,557) 1,655,672
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of the year/period 1,655,672 -
cash and cash equivalents at end of the year/period 718,115 1,655,672

supplemental disclosures of cash flow information:
Interest received 9,425 38,924
Interest paid (10,321) (1,123)

*For the period from 1 March 2019 (commencement of operations) to 31 December 2019.

STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
For the year ended 31 December 2020
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
For the year ended 31 December 2020 

1. GENERAL
Lynx UCITS Fund (the “Fund”) is a sub-fund of Lynx UCITS ICAV (the “ICAV”). The ICAV is an open-ended Irish 
collective asset-management vehicle with registered number C184319 structured as an umbrella fund with segrega-
ted liability between sub-funds pursuant to the European Communities (Undertakings for Collective Investment in 
Transferable Securities) Regulations 2011 (as amended) (the “UCITS Regulations”). As of 31 December 2020, the 
ICAV has established one other sub-fund, Lynx Active Balanced Fund.

Any liability incurred on behalf of or attributable to the Fund of the ICAV shall be discharged solely out of the as-
sets of the Fund. Notwithstanding the foregoing, there can be no assurance that should an action be brought against 
the ICAV in the courts of another jurisdiction, the segregated nature of the Fund would necessarily be upheld.

The ICAV was incorporated on 11 December 2018 and the Fund commenced operations on 1 March 2019.
On 4 March 2019, the net assets of MS Lynx UCITS Fund (a sub-fund of Fund Logic Alternatives Plc) were 

transferred to the Fund. Following the decision by the Directors of Fund Logic Alternatives Plc to liquidate the 
sub-fund., Lynx Asset Management AB, the investment manager of MS Lynx UCITS fund, decided to continue its 
investment strategy in the newly formed Lynx UCITS ICAV.

The investment objective of the Fund is to provide shareholders with returns based on; (i) exposure to the Lynx 
Program; (ii) investments in transferable securities and money market instruments issued by government issuers; and 
(iii) investments in cash deposits and cash equivalent securities.

In June 2020, the investment portfolio of the Fund was restructured. To gain exposure to the Lynx program the 
Fund invests in futures contracts and currency forward contracts. The Fund also invests in debt securities issued by 
two Jersey based companies, Alphabeta Access Products Limited and Weser Capital Series 6. Through these debt 
securities the Fund gains exposure to Lynx (Cayman) Fund Limited which invests in interest rate futures as well as 
commodity futures in line with the Lynx program.

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 
The significant accounting policies adopted by the Fund in the preparation of these financial statements are set 
out below.   

(a) Basis of preparation 
The Directors have opted to prepare separate financial statements for the Fund in accordance with the Irish Collective 
Asset-management Vehicles Act 2015 (the “ICAV Act”). The financial statements for Lynx Active Balanced Fund are 
available free of charge on request from the Manager. Any reference hereafter to the financial statements will mean 
the financial statements of the Fund of the ICAV.

These financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2020 have been prepared in accordance with Inter-
national Financial Reporting Standards (“IFRS”) as adopted for use by the European Union (“EU”) and with the 
requirements of the ICAV Act and pursuant to the UCITS Regulations and the Central Bank (Supervision and En-
forcement) Act 2013 (Section 48(1)) (Undertakings for Collective Investment in Transferable Securities) Regulations 
2019 (the ”Central Bank UCITS Regulations”).

The financial statements have been prepared on a going concern basis and under the historical cost convention 
except for financial instruments classified at fair value through profit or loss that have been measured at fair value.

(b) Use of estimates, judgements and assumptions 
The preparation of financial statements in conformity with IFRS requires the Directors to make judgements, esti-
mates and assumptions that affect the application of policies and the reported amounts of assets and liabilities at the 
date of the financial statements and income and expense during the reporting period. The estimates and associated 
assumptions are based on historical experience and various other factors that are believed to be reasonable under 
the circumstances, the results of which form the basis of making the judgements about carrying values of assets and 
liabilities that are not readily apparent from other sources. Actual results may differ from these estimates.  

The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an ongoing basis. Revisions to accounting estimates 
are recognised in the financial period in which the estimate is revised if the revision affects only that financial period 
or in the financial period of the revision and future financial periods if the revision affects both current and future 
financial periods.
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(c) Foreign currency translation
(i) Functional and presentation currency
The Directors consider the currency of the primary economic environment in which the Fund operates to be the 
United States Dollar (”USD”) as this is the currency which, in their opinion most faithfully represents the economic 
effects of underlying transactions, events and conditions. The financial statements are presented in USD which is the 
Fund’s functional and presentation currency.

(ii) Foreign currency transactions  
Assets and liabilities denominated in currencies other than the functional currency are translated into the functional 
currency at the closing rates at each financial year end. Transactions during the financial year, including purchases and 
sales of securities, income and expenses, are translated at the rate of exchange prevailing on the date of the transaction. 
Foreign currency transaction gains and losses are included in net gains on financial assets and financial liabilities at fair 
value through profit or loss and net gains or losses on foreign currency in the Statement of Comprehensive Income.

(d) New standards, amendments and interpretations effective for the year beginning 1 January 2020 and 
adopted by the Fund, and effective after 1 January 2020 and not early adopted

There are no standards, amendments to standards or interpretations that are effective for annual periods beginning 
on 1 January 2020 that have a material effect on the financial statements of the Fund. A number of new standards, 
amendments to standards and interpretations are effective for annual periods beginning after 1 January 2020, and 
have not been applied in preparing these financial statements. None of these are expected to have a material effect on 
the financial statements of the Fund. 

(e) Financial assets and financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss
(i) Classification
The Fund classifies all of its investments as financial assets or financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss. 
In addition to this, the Fund measures assets and liabilities at amortised cost.   

• Assets  
 The Fund classifies its investments based on both the Fund’s business model for managing those financial assets and 
the contractual cash flow characteristics of the financial assets. The portfolio of financial assets is managed and per-
formance is evaluated on a fair value basis. The Fund is primarily focused on fair value information and uses that in-
formation to assess the assets’ performance and to make decisions. The Fund has not taken the option to irrevocably 
designate any securities as fair value through other comprehensive income. Derivative contracts that have a positive 
fair value are presented as assets at fair value through profit or loss. 

• Liabilities 
Derivative contracts that have a negative fair value are presented as liabilities at fair value through profit or loss.   

As such, the Fund classifies all of its investment portfolio as financial assets or financial liabilities as fair value 
through profit or loss. The Fund’s policy requires the Investment Manager and the Board of Directors to evaluate 
the information about these financial assets and financial liabilities on a fair value basis together with other related 
financial information.

(ii) Recognition, derecognition and measurement  
Investment transactions are accounted for on a trade date basis. Investments are initially recognised at the fair value 
of acquisition. Subsequent to initial recognition, all financial assets and financial liabilities at fair value through profit 
or loss are measured at fair value. Investments are derecognised when the rights to receive cash flow from the invest-
ments have expired or the Fund has transferred substantially all risks and rewards of ownership. Gains and losses 
arising from changes in the fair value of the ‘financial assets or financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss’ 
category are presented in the Statement of Comprehensive Income within ‘net gains on financial assets and financial 
liabilities at fair value through profit or loss’ in the period in which they arise.

The fair value of investments traded in active markets is based on quoted market prices at the close of trading on 
the reporting date. The Fund utilises the last traded market price for such investments.
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(iii) Financial derivative instruments (“FDI”)
Future contracts
Futures are valued at fair value based on the settlement price on the relevnt valuation date. Futures are contracts 
for delayed delivery of financial instruments or commodities in which the seller agrees to make delivery at a specific 
future date of a specific financial instrument or commodity, at a specified price or yield. Gains and losses on futures 
are recorded by the Fund based on market fluctuations and are recorded as realised or unrealised gains or losses 
dependent upon settlement terms of the contracts held in the Statement of Comprehensive Income. The Fund uses 
bond futures, currency futures, interest rate futures and futures on equity indices.

Forward contracts 
Forward contracts entered into by the Fund represent a firm commitment to buy or sell an underlying asset, or cur-
rency at a specified value and point in time based upon an agreed or contracted quantity. Gains and losses on forward 
contracts are measured by the Fund based upon fair value fluctuations and are recorded as realised or unrealised gains 
or losses in the Statement Comprehensive Income. The Fund values forward contracts at last settlement prices or 
closing prices provided by certain third party pricing sources.

(f ) Impairment of financial assets 
The IFRS9 expected credit losses (ECL) impairment model applies to financial assets measured at amortised cost. 
IFRS 9 requires the Fund to record ECLs on all of its cash and cash collateral, due from broker and trade receivables, 
either on a 12 month or lifetime basis. Given the limited exposure of the Fund to ECL, this requirement has not had 
a material impact on these financial statements. The Fund only holds receivables with no financing component and 
which have maturities of less than 12 months at amortised cost and therefore it has adopted an approach similar to 
the simplified approach to ECLs.

The carrying value of cash and cash equivalents cash held as collateral and due from brokers. measured at amor-
tised cost less any expected loss, is an approximation of fair value given their short-term nature and no history of 
default.

(g) Offsetting financial instruments 
Financial assets and financial liabilities are offset and the net amount reported in the Statement of Financial Position 
where there is a legally enforceable right to set off the recognised amounts and there is an intention to settle on a net 
basis, or realise the asset and settle the liability simultaneously.

(h) Cash and cash equivalents 
Cash, including cash denominated in foreign currencies, represents cash on hand and demand deposits held at finan-
cial institutions. Cash equivalents include short-term, highly liquid investments of sufficient credit quality that are 
readily convertible to known amounts of cash and have original maturities of three months or less. Cash equivalents 
are carried at cost, plus accrued interest, which approximates fair value. Cash equivalents are held to meet short-term 
liquidity requirements, rather than for investment purposes.  

(i) Transaction cost
Transaction costs are incremental costs which are separately identifiable and directly attributable to the acquisition, 
issue or disposal of a financial asset or financial liability. The Fund’s portfolio transactions include the purchase and 
sale of treasury bills and debt securities.

( j) Interest income and interest expense
Deposit interest is recognised as income on an effective interest basis. Interest expense is charged on broker balances 
and is recognised daily on an accrual basis using the original effective interest rate of the instrument and under the 
finance costs heading within the Statement of Comprehensive Income.

(k) Expenses
All expenses are recognised in the Statement of Comprehensive Income on an accrual basis. Transaction costs on 
financial assets and financial liabilities at fair value trough profit or loss, including comission fees, are presented gross 
under operating expenses and are expensed immediately.
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(l) Net asset value per share
The net asset value (“NAV”) per share is calculated by the Administrator by dividing the NAV attributable to of each 
class of shares by the number of shares in issue in that class at each valuation point.

(m) Redeemable participating shares 
All redeemable participating shares issued by the Fund provide the shareholders with the right to require redemp-
tion for cash at the value proportionate to the shareholder’s share in the Fund’s net assets at the redemption date. In 
accordance with IAS 32 ‘Financial Instruments: Presentation’ such instruments are classified as financial liabilities. 
Subject to the terms of the Prospectus the Fund is contractually obliged to redeem shares at the NAV per share on 
the valuation date.

(n) Due from/to brokers
Amounts due from/to brokers represent receivables for securities sold, payable for securities purchased that have 
been contracted for but not yet delivered by the end of the year, spot trades and margin accounts. Margin accounts 
represent those cash deposits with brokers which are transferred as collateral against open derivative contracts.

(o) Cash held and received as collateral
As at 31 December 2020, the Fund’s broker UBS Warburg Ltd. held cash as collateral that is identified in the Sta-
tement of Financial Position as cash held as collateral. The Fund received cash as collateral from Goldman Sachs 
Trading that is identified in the Statement of Financial Position as cash received as collateral. Both Cash held and 
received as collateral are not included as a component of cash and cash equivalents.

(p) Subscriptions receivable and redemptions payable 
Subscriptions receivable represent amounts due from investors from subscriptions that have been contracted for but 
not yet received and therefore are shown as a receivable at the financial year end. Redemptions payable represent 
amounts due to investors for redemptions that have been contracted for but not yet paid and therefore are shown as 
a payable at the financial year end.

(q) Structured entities    
A structured entity is an entity that has been designed so that voting or similar rights are not the dominant factor 
in deciding who controls the entity, such as when any voting rights relate to administrative tasks only and the re-
levant activities are directed by means of contractual arrangements. A structured entity often has some or all of the 
following features or attributes; (a) restricted activities, (b) a narrow and well-defined objective, such as to provide 
investment opportunities for investors by passing on risks and rewards associated with the assets of the structured 
entity to investors, (c) insufficient equity to permit the structured entity to finance its activities without subordinated 
financial support and (d) financing in the form of multiple contractually linked instruments to investors that create 
concentrations of credit or other risks (tranches).

The Fund considers some of its transferable securities to be investments in structured entities which are unconso-
lidated. See note 11 (d) for details of these investments.

3. FINANCIAL ASSETS AND LIABILITIES AT FAIR VALUE THROUGH PROFIT OR LOSS

31 December 2020 31 December 2019
USD USD

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss
Designated at fair value
Investment funds - 5,162,345 
Transferable securities
 -Debt securities 6,750,239 10,324,237 
 -Treasury bills 24,975,031 38,936,620
Financial derivative instruments
 -Forward contracts  1,683,637  989,402 
 -Future contracts 205,242 -
Total financial assets at fair value through profit or loss 33,614,149 55,412,604
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Financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss
Financial derivative instruments
 -Forward contracts  274,262 -
 -Future contracts 24,303 -
Total financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss 298,565 -

Realised gains/(losses) on financial assets and financial liabilities  
at fair value through profit or loss  
(Losses)/gains on investment funds (1,430,148)  4,439,538 

(Losses)/gains on debt securities (1,856,740)  8,879,014 

Gains on treasury bills 403,494 748,330

Gains/(losses) on forward contracts  4,069,173  (3,560,178)

Gains on futures contracts   2,304,448 -

Net realised gains on financial assets and financial liabilities at fair 
value through profit or loss 3,490,227 10,506,704

Unrealised gains/(losses) on financial assets and financial  
liabilities at fair value through profit or loss 
Gains/(losses) on investment funds 112,331 (112,331) 

Gains/(losses) on debt securities 1,044,496 (224,738)

Losses/gains on treasury bills (147,451) 155,570 

Gains on forward contracts 419,973 989,402 

Gains on futures contracts 180,939 -

Net unrealised gains on financial assets and financial liabilities  
at fair value through profit or loss 1,610,288 807,903
Net gains on financial assets and financial liabilities at fair value 
through profit or loss 5,100,515 11,314,607

*For the period from 1 March 2019 (commencement of operations) to 31 December 2019. 

4. FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENT
IFRS 13 ‘Fair value measurement’ establishes a fair value hierarchy that prioritises the inputs to valuation techniques 
used to measure fair value. The hierarchy gives the highest priority to unadjusted quoted prices in active markets for 
identical assets or liabilities (Level 1 measurements) and the lowest priority to unobservable inputs (Level 3 measu-
rements). The three levels of the fair value hierarchy are described in the table below.   

Level 1 Inputs that reflect unadjusted quoted prices in active markets for identical assets or liabilities that the 
Fund has the ability to access at the measurement date;

Level 2 Inputs other than quoted prices that are observable for the asset or liability either directly or indirectly, 
including inputs in markets that are not considered to be active;

Level 3 Inputs that are unobservable. This category includes all instruments for which the valuation technique 
includes inputs not based on observable data and the unobservable inputs have a significant effect on 
the instrument’s valuation. This category includes instruments that are valued based on quoted prices for 
similar instruments for which significant unobservable adjustments or assumptions are required to reflect 
differences between the instruments.

Inputs are used in applying the various valuation techniques and broadly refer to the assumptions that market 
participants use to make valuation decisions, including assumptions about risk. Inputs may include price in-
formation, volatility statistics, specific and broad credit data, liquidity statistics, and other factors. A financial 
instrument’s level within the fair value hierarchy is based on the lowest level of any input that is significant to the 
fair value measurement. However, the determination of what constitutes “observable” requires significant judge-
ment by the Directors. The Directors consider observable data to be that market data which is readily available, 
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regularly distributed or updated, reliable and verifiable, not proprietary, and provided by independent sources 
that are actively involved in the relevant market. The categorisation of a financial instrument within the hierarchy 
is based upon the pricing transparency of the instrument and does not necessarily correspond to the Directors’ 
perceived risk of that instrument.

Transferable securities
Transferable securities whose values are based on quoted market prices in active markets are classified within level 1. 
These include active treasury bills. The Directors do not adjust the quoted price for such instruments, even in situa-
tions where the Fund holds a large position and a sale could reasonably impact the quoted price. 

Transferable securities that trade in markets that are not considered to be active, but are valued based on quoted 
market prices, dealer quotations or alternative pricing sources supported by observable inputs are classified within 
level 2. These include debt securities.

Transferable securities classified within level 3 have significant unobservable inputs, as they trade infrequently or 
not at all. There are no level 3 investments held at financial year end. 

Investments in other investment funds (“Investee Funds”) are valued using the NAV of the underlying funds 
provided by the Investee Funds, without adjustment. Investee Funds are classified as level 2 securities.

Financial derivative instruments 
Financial derivative instruments can be exchange-traded or privately negotiated over-the-counter (“OTC”). Exchan-
ge-traded derivatives, such as future contracts are typically classified within level 1 or level 2 of the fair value hierarchy 
depending on whether or not they are deemed to be actively traded.

OTC derivatives, such as forward contracts have inputs which can generally be corroborated by market data and 
are therefore classified within level 2. 

The following table presents the financial instruments carried at fair value on the Statement of Financial Position 
by caption and by level within the valuation hierarchy as at 31 December 2020.

 Total  (Level 1)  (Level 2) (Level 3)
Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss USD USD USD USD
Transferable securities
- Debt securities 6,750,239 - 6,750,239 -
- Treasury bills 24,975,031 24,975,031 - -
Forward contracts 1,683,637 - 1,683,637 -
Futures contracts 205,242 205,242 - -
Total financial assets at fair value through  
profit or loss 33,614,149 25,180,273 8,433,876 -

Financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss
Financial derivative instruments
-Forward contracts  (274,262) - (274,262) -
-Future contracts (24,303) (24,303) - -
Total financial liabilities at fair  
value through profit or loss (298,565) (24,303) (274,262) -

The Fund recognises transfers between levels of the fair value hierarchy as at the end of the reporting   year during 
which the change occurred.

There were no transfers between levels during the financial year ended 31 December 2020.
The following table presents the financial instruments carried at fair value on the Statement of Financial Position 

by caption and by level within the valuation hierarchy as at 31 December 2019.
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 Total  (Level 1)  (Level 2) (Level 3)
Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss USD USD USD USD
Investment funds 5,162,345 - 5,162,345 -
Transferable securities
- Debt securities 10,324,237 - 10,324,237 -
- Treasury bills 38,936,620 38,936,620 - -
Forward contracts 989,402 - 989,402 -
Total financial assets at fair value through  
profit or loss 55,412,604 38,936,620 16,475,984 -
 
There were no transfers between levels during the financial period form 1 March 2019 (commencement of opera-
tions) to 31 December 2019.

Financial assets and liabilities not measured at fair value 
The financial assets and liabilities not measured at fair value through profit or loss are short-term financial assets and 
financial liabilities whose carrying amounts approximate fair value. Cash and cash equivalents are categorised as level 
1 and all other financial assets and financial liabilities not measured at fair value through profit or loss are categorised 
as level 2 in the fair value hierarchy.

5. FEES AND EXPENSES
(a) Investment Management feess
The Investment Manager shall be entitled to receive from the Fund, an investment management fee in relation to 
each class of shares calculated on a percentage of net assets attributable to such class of shares. Such fees are accrued 
daily and paid monthly in arrears at an annual rate as set out below:

Classes of shares Investment management fee (per annum)
Class E Shares 0.70%
Class I Shares 1.00%
Class D1 Shares 1.30%

The Investment Manager may from time to time and at its sole discretion and out of its own resources decide to 
rebate shareholders part or all of the investment management fees. 

Any such rebate(s) may be applied in paying up additional shares to be issued to the shareholder(s).
For the financial year ended 31 December 2020, investment management fees of USD 329,974 (2019: USD 

447,030) were charged to the Fund of which USD 23,344 (USD 37,140) was payable at the year end. 

(b) Manager fees
The Manager shall be entitled to receive from the ICAV, a manager fee calculated as a percentage of the NAV of 
the ICAV. The Fund shall be responsible for its attributable portion of the fees payable to the Manager and fees 
shall be allocated to the sub-funds on a pro-rata basis. Such fees are accrued daily and paid quarterly in arrears as 
set out below. The Investment Manager may take responsibility for payment of the fees to the Manager. These fees 
are subject to a minimum fee of EUR 65,000 per annum for the initial two sub-funds of the ICAV. The Manager 
fees are as follows: 

Net Asset Value of the ICAV  Fee payable to the Manager 
€0 - €250 million (“M1”) 0.03% per annum 
€250Ml - €500Ml  0.0275% per annum 
€500Ml - €750Ml  0.025% per annum 
€750Ml - €1 billion (Bn”) 0.0225% per annum 
Above €1Bn  0.02% per annum 

For the financial year ended 31 December 2020, the Investment Manager has paid out of its own fees, the managers’ 
fee of USD 36,520 (2019: USD 34,891) of which USD 3,151 (2019: USD 3,054) was payable at the year end.
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(c) Performance fees
The Investment Manager will be entitled to receive a performance fee in respect of each series of a share class equal 
to 20% of the amount by which the NAV of the share class exceeds the high water mark (“HWM”) as at the last 
business day of the calculation period, first business day through to 31 December, plus any crystallised performance 
fee accrued in relation to the share class in respect of redemptions during the calculation period subject in the case 
of the initial adjustment.

HWM means the NAV of the relevant series of share classes as at the end of the last calculation period on which 
a performance fee was paid. For the first calculation period, the initial HWM shall be the proceeds of the initial offer 
price of the relevant share classes subject to the initial adjustment.

The performance fee shall be calculated and accrue daily.
Up until 8 June 2020, the Fund applied a Series accounting method for calculating the performance fee meaning 

that the performance fee was calculated for each Series within a share class. Since 8 June 2020, the performance fee 
is calculated at share class level in accordance with the above description.

For the financial year ended 31 December 2020, performance fees of USD Nil (2019: USD 40,395) were char-
ged to the Fund of which USD Nil (2019: USD 1,221) was payable at the year end. 

(d) Administration fees
The Administrator is entitled to receive out of the assets of Fund an administration fee, accrued and calculated daily 
and paid monthly in arrears, at a rate of up to 0.06% per annum of a Fund’s NAV for the first EUR 500 million 
and 0.05% per annum of the Fund’s NAV above EUR 500 million subject to a minimum annual fee of up to EUR 
60,000. The Fund shall be responsible for the fees of and reasonable out-of-pocket expenses properly incurred by the 
Administrator. 

For the financial year ended 31 December 2020, administration fees of USD 30,147 (2019: USD 48,205) were 
charged to the Fund of which USD 1,848 (2019: USD 5,716) was payable at the year end.

 
(e) Depositary fees 
The Depositary is entitled to an annual fee out of the assets of the Fund at a rate which shall not exceed 0.03% per 
annum of the NAV of the Fund, subject to a minimum fee EUR 36,000 per annum pro-rated between the sub-funds 
of the ICAV on the basis of the assets under administration of each sub-und. This fee accrues and is calculated on 
each dealing day and paid monthly in arrears. The Depositary shall also be entitled to receive out of the assets of the 
Fund all agreed sub-custodian fees and transaction charges.

For the financial year ended 31 December 2020, depositary fees of USD 21,402 (2019: USD 25,530) were char-
ged to the Fund of which USD 1,711 (USD 1,568) was payable at the year end.

(f ) Directors’ fees 
The Directors may be entitled to a fee by way of remuneration for their services at a rate to be determined from 
time to time by the Directors. The Directors’ remuneration will not exceed EUR 50,000 per annum in the aggregate 
or such other amount as may be determined by the Directors and notified to shareholders from time to time. Any 
Directors employed by the Investment Manager will waive their entitlement to fees. The Directors shall be entitled 
to be reimbursed by the ICAV for all reasonable disbursements and out-of-pocket expenses incurred by them, if any.

For the financial year ended 31 December 2020, directors’ fees of USD 19,017 (2019: USD 39,985) were char-
ged to the Fund of which USD 16,262 (2019: USD 15,795) was payable at the year end.

(g) Audit fees
The remuneration for all work carried out by the statutory audit firm in respect of the year is as follows:

31 December 2020 31 December 2019*
USD USD

Statutory audit (exclusive of VAT and out-of-pocket expenses) 19,874 13,196
Assurance - -
Tax Services - -
Other non-audit services - -
Total 19,874 13,196

*For the period from 1 March 2019 (commencement of operations) to 31 December 2019. 
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6. OTHER PAYABLES
31 December 2020 31 December 2019*

USD USD
Transaction costs payable 7,214 12,894
Secretarial fees payable 2,514 3,796
Professional fees payable 2,514 3,796
VAT services fees payable 980 2,321
Annual fees payable  1,906 -
Financial reporting fees payable 704 1,276
Central bank levy payable 1,404 1,282
Payroll services fees payable 691 -
FATCA service fees payable 2,735 606

20,662 25,971

7. OTHER EXPENSES

31 December 2019* 31 December 2019*
USD USD

Financial reporting fees 7,960 12,490
Secretarial fees 5,144 9,177
Professional fees 11,981 9,177
Regulatory Admin Fee 3,238 148
VAT services fees - 4,090
Facility fees 2,568 4,383
Annual fees 4,768 3,313
Out-of-pocket expenses 2,197 2,142
Central bank levy - 1,275
FATCA service fees 3,095 1,275
Payroll service fees 1,971 534
Other expenses 1,177 6

44,099 48,010

*For the period from 1 March 2019 (commencement of operations) to 31 December 2019. 

8. SHARE CAPITAL AND REDEEMABLE PARTICIPATING SHARES
The minimum authorised share capital of the ICAV is EUR 2 represented by subscriber shares of no par value. The 
maximum authorised share capital of the ICAV, as may be amended by the Directors from time to time and notified 
to shareholders, is 500,000,000,002 shares of no par value represented by 2 (two) subscriber shares of no par value 
and 500,000,000,000 (five hundred billion) shares of no par value, initially designated as unclassified shares. The 
Directors are empowered to issue up to 500,000,000,000 shares of no par value designated as shares of any class on 
such items as they think fit.

The subscriber shares entitle the holders to attend and vote at general meetings of the ICAV but do not entitle 
the holders to participate in the profits or assets of the sub-funds of the ICAV except for a return of capital on a 
winding-up. The shares entitle the holders to attend and vote at general meetings of the ICAV and to participate in 
the profits and assets of the relevant sub-fund of the ICAV. There are no pre-emption rights attaching to the shares.

The issued redeemable participating share capital of the Fund is at all times equal to the net asset value of the 
Fund. Redeemable participating shares are redeemable at the shareholders’ option and in accordance with the of-
fering documents are classified as financial liabilities. The movement in the number of participating shares for the 
financial year ended 31 December 2020 was as follows: 
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At the 
beginning of 
the financial 

year 
 Shares 
issued 

Shares 
redeemed Conversion

 At the 
end of 

the financial 
year  

Class USD E Original Series  5,051  -   - (5,051)  -   
Class USD I  1,739  -    (1,739) -  -   
Class I USD -Series 03092019  600  -    (600)  -    -   
Class USD D1  15 - -  (15)  -   
Class D1 USD  -    -  -     34     34
Class D1 USD - Series 20200219 -  22 -   (22)    -   
Class EUR E  26,147  -   (5,355)  (20,792)    -   
Class E EUR - Series 04112019  300  -   -   (300)    -   
Class I USD -  2,067  (2,067) -  -   
Class E EUR  -   4,469  (6,178)  22,658    20,949 
Class I EUR  -   1,464  (1,540) 7,015  6,939 
Class E EUR - Series 23012020 -  1,500 - (1,500) -
Class E USD - -  (5,051) 5,051 -
Class I EUR - Series 20200115 -  530 (518)  (12)   -
Class I EUR - Series 20200226 -  600 - (600) -
Class I EUR - Series 20200527 -  500 - (500) -
Class E EUR - Series 12122019  46  -   - (46) -
Class E EUR - Series 7052020  -    300 - (300) -
Class EUR I  10,132  -   (7,936) (2,196) -
Class I EUR -Series 1 15052019  2,078  -   260 (1,818) -
Class I EUR - Series 1 20082019  850  -   - (850) -
Class I EUR - Series 23102019  200  -   - (200) -
Class I EUR Series 23122019 500 - - (500) -
Class I CHF -    - - 25 25
Class I CHF Original Series 36 -    (11) (25) -

The amounts for the redeemable participating shares movements during the year 2020 were as follows:

Beginning 
net assets

US$ 

Amounts 
subscribed

US$

Amounts 
redeemed

US$

Conversion 
of shares

US$

Amount 
of Profit/

loss during 
the year

US$

Ending 
net assets

US$
Class USD E Original Series  6,227,924  -   -  (5,688,651)  (539,273)  -   
Class USD I  1,677,317  -    (1,536,086)  (141,231)  -   
Class I USD -Series 03092019  531,122  -    (484,494) -  (46,628)  -   
Class USD D1  15,732  -  -  (14,330)  (1,402)  -   
Class D1 USD  -    -  -  33,015  4,794  37,809 
Class D1 USD - Series 20200219  -    22,457 -  (18,684)  (3,773)  -   
Class EUR E  33,612,104  -    (6,961,703)(24,423,369)  (2,227,032)  -   
Class E EUR - Series 04112019  331,345  -   -  (302,778)  (28,567)  -   
Class I USD  -    1,818,142  (1,914,763)  96,621  -   
Class E EUR  -    5,552,065  (7,926,971)  26,617,031  6,146,776  30,388,901 
Class I EUR  -    1,553,875  (1,564,377)  6,693,234  1,479,683  8,162,415 
Class E EUR -  Series 23012020  -    1,656,075  (1,519,409)  (136,666)  -   
Class E USD  -    -    (5,861,246)  5,688,651  172,595  -   
Class I EUR - Series 20200115  -    591,242  (524,827)  (11,721)  (54,694)  -   
Class I EUR - Series 20200226  -    653,400  -  (600,606)  (52,794)  -   
Class I EUR - Series 20200527  -    548,750  -  (547,951)  (799)  -   
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Class E EUR - Series 12122019  53,129  -    -  (48,548)  (4,581)  -   
Class E EUR - Series 7052020  -    323,640  -  (322,927)  (713)  -   
Class EUR I  10,592,704  -    (7,583,291)  (2,095,175)  (914,238)  -   
Class EUR I -Series 1 15052019  2,408,119  -    (274,467)  (1,922,655)  (210,997)  -   
Class I EUR - Series 1 20082019  873,421  -    -  (797,065)  (76,356)  -   
Class I EUR - Series 23102019  222,950  -    -  (203,459)  (19,491)  -   
Class I EUR  Series 23122019  563,899  -    -  (514,603)  (49,296)  -   
Class I CHF  -    -    -  18,222   4,167  22,389 
Class I CHF Original Series  28,709  -    (8,219)  (18,222) (2,268) - 

57,138,475  12,719,646 (34,640,444)  -    3,393,837  38,611,514 

The movement in the number of participating shares for the period from 1 March 2019 (commencement of opera-
tions) to 31 December 2019 are as follows:

At the 
beginning of 
the financial 

period 
 Shares 
issued 

Shares 
redeemed Conversion

 At the 
end of the 

financial 
period  

Class E USD  -    5,051  -   -  5,051 
Class I USD  -    7,784  (3,508)  (2,537)  1,739 
Class I USD - series 03092019 - 600    -    -    600 
Class D1 USD  -    15  -   -  15 
Class E EUR* - 42,757   (16,610)  -    26,147 
Class E EUR - series 04112019* -  300  -    -    300 
Class E EUR - series 12122019* -  46  -    -    46 
Class I EUR* - 34,430 (24,298)  -    10,132 
Class I EUR - series 1 15052019* - -  -   2,078    2,078 
Class I EUR - series 1 20082019* -  850  -    -    850 
Class I EUR - series 23102019* -  200  -    -    200 
Class I EUR - series 23122019*  -    500  -    -    500 
Class I CHF* - 36     -    -    36 

*Hedged share class

The amount for Investor Share movements during the year 2019 was as follows:

Beginning 
net assets

US$ 

Amounts 
subscribed

US$

Amounts 
redeemed

US$

Conversion 
of shares

US$

Amount 
of Profit/

loss during 
the year

US$

Ending 
net assets

US$
Class E USD -  5,385,271 - -  842,653  6,227,924 
Class I USD -  6,508,057  (3,228,225)  (2,328,152) 725,637  1,677,317 
Class I USD - series 03092019 -  599,998 - -  (68,876)  531,122 
Class D1 USD -  14,955 - -  777  15,732 
Class E EUR* -  49,345,890 (21,409,094) -  5,675,308  33,612,104 
Class E EUR - series 04112019* -  334,245 - -  (2,900)  331,345 
Class E EUR - series 12122019* -  51,641 - -  1,488  53,129 
Class I EUR* -  32,397,426 (25,034,593) -  3,229,871  10,592,704
Class I EUR - series 1 15052019*  -   - -  2,328,152  79,967  2,408,119 
Class I EUR - series 1 20082019*  -    942,735 - -  (69,314)  873,421 
Class I EUR - series 23102019*  -    222,450 - -  500  222,950 
Class I EUR - series 23122019*  -    554,450 - -  9,449  563,899 
Class I CHF*  -    24,876 - -  3,833  28,709 

 -    96,381,994 (49,671,912)  -    10,428,393  57,138,475 
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9. TAXATION
Under current law and practice the ICAV qualifies as an investment undertaking as defined in Section 739B of the 
Taxes Consolidation Act 1997 (as amended). On that basis, it is not chargeable to Irish tax on its income or gains. 
However, Irish tax may arise on the happening of a “chargeable event”. A chargeable event includes any distribution 
payments to shareholders, any encashment, redemption, cancellation or transfer of shares and any deemed disposal 
of shares for Irish tax purposes arising as a result of the holding of shares for an eight year period or more. 

A chargeable event does not include: 
 (i) A shareholder who is not an Irish resident and not ordinarily resident in Ireland at the time of the chargeable event 

provided the necessary signed statutory declarations are held by the ICAV and its Fund; or 
(ii) Certain exempted Irish resident investors who have provided the ICAV and its Fund with the necessary signed 

statutory declaration; or 
(iii) Any transactions in relation to shares held in a recognised clearing system as designated by order of the Revenue 

Commissioners of Ireland; or 
(iv)  An exchange of shares in the ICAV for other shares in the ICAV; or”
(v) An exchange of shares arising on a qualifying amalgamation or reconstruction of the ICAV with another invest-

ment undertaking; or 
(vi) Certain exchanges of shares between spouses and former spouses.
 
On the happening of a chargeable event, the ICAV shall be entitled to deduct the appropriate amount of tax on 

any payment made to a shareholder in respect of the chargeable event. On the occurrence of 
chargeable event where no payment is made by the ICAV to the shareholder, the ICAV may appropriate or cancel 

the required number of shares to meet the tax liability.
Dividends, interest and capital gains (if any) received on investments made by the Fund may be subject to with-

holding taxes imposed by the country from which the investment income/gains are received and such taxes may not 
be recoverable by the Fund or its shareholders.

10. SOFT COMMISSION AND DIRECT BROKERAGE SERVICES
There were no soft commissions or directed brokerage service arrangements in place during the year ended 31 De-
cember 2020 (31 December 2019: Nil).

11. RISKS ASSOCIATED WITH FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS
The Fund’s risks are those set out in the Prospectus and the Supplement and any consideration of risk here should 
be viewed in the context of the Prospectus and the Supplement which is the primary documentation governing the 
operations of the Fund.

The Fund’s activities expose it to a variety of financial risks: market risk (including foreign currency risk, interest 
rate risk and market price risk), credit risk and liquidity risk. The ICAV’s overall risk management program focuses 
on the unpredictability of financial markets and seeks to minimise potential adverse effects on the Fund’s financial 
performance. The Fund may use derivative financial instruments to moderate certain risk exposures.

The Investment Manager assesses the risk profile of the Fund on the basis of the investment policy, strategy and the 
use made of financial derivative instruments. The Investment Manager operates risk management controls over all of 
the Fund’s positions, which may include risk attribution and exposure analysis by liquidity and size and may utilise a 
number of multi-factor simulations including the value-at-risk simulation and stress-testing, where appropriate.

(a) Market risk
Market risk is the risk that the fair value of future cash flows of financial instruments will fluctuate because of changes 
in market prices.

The Investment Manager moderates market risk through careful selection of securities and other financial in-
struments within specified limits. The Fund has exposure to some of the above risks to generate investment returns 
on its portfolios, although these risks can also potentially result in a reduction in the Fund assets. The Fund’s overall 
market position is monitored on a daily basis by the Fund’s Investment Manager and is reviewed on a regular basis 
by the Manager.

As at 31 December 2020, the Fund’s market risk is affected by three components:  
(i) foreign currency movements (”currency risk”); 
(ii) interest rate movements (”interest rate risk”); and
(iii) changes in actual equity prices (”market price risk”). 
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(i) Currency risk
Currency risk is the risk that the fair value of future cash flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate because of 
changes in foreign exchange rates. 

The Fund may invest in securities and financial instruments denominated in currencies other than its functional 
currency. Consequently, the Fund may be exposed to risks that the exchange rate of its currency relative to other 
currencies may change in a manner which may have a favourable or unfavourable effect on the value of that portion 
of the Fund’s assets which are denominated in currencies other than its “own” currency. However, the Fund may 
seek to hedge this currency risk through foreign exchange (FX) transactions in the spot, forward, currency swaps or 
futures markets.

Any financial instruments used to implement hedging strategies with respect to one or more share classes deno-
minated in a currency other than USD from unwanted exposure to fluctuations in the currency versus USD shall 
be assets/liabilities of the Fund as a whole but will be attributable to the relevant class. The gains/losses of financial 
instruments and the costs of the relevant financial instruments will accrue solely to the relevant class.

The table below outlines the net foreign currency risk exposure of the Fund as at 31 December 2020:

Monetary
assets/(liabilities)

USD

Non-monetary
assets/(liabilities)

USD

Derivative
Contracts

USD
Total
USD

Euro (19,875)  (38,551,321)  42,591,172  4,019,976 
Swiss Francs  28  (22,389)  929,850  907,489 
Australian Dollar 133,264 - 1,965,207  2,098,471 
Canadian Dollar  51,332 - (518,418)  (467,086)
Hong Kong Dollar   79,565 -   64,234  143,799 
Japanese Yen  137,640 -  7,594,147  7,731,787 
Swedish Krona  21,439 -  2,720,391  2,741,830 
South African Rand  12,157 -  2,822,477  2,834,634 
British Pound Sterling (136,539) -  1,487,608  1,351,069 
Singapore Dollar  (2,326) -  4,800,244  4,797,918 
Hungarian Forint - -  434,212  434,212 
Mexican Peso - -  1,990,994  1,990,994 
Norwegian Krone - -  1,496,280  1,496,280 
Turkish Lira - -  226,151  226,151 
Polish Zloty - -  351,441  351,441 
Chinese Yuan Renminbi - -  6,541,696  6,541,696 
New Zealand Dollar  -    -    3,617,962  3,617,962 

276,685  (38,573,710) 79,115,648  40,818,623 

The table below outlines the net foreign currency risk exposure of the Fund as at 31 December 2019:

Monetary
assets/(liabilities)

USD

Non-monetary
assets/(liabilities)

USD

Derivative
Contracts

USD
Total
USD

Euro (245,658) (48,657,673) 49,436,512 533,181
Swiss Francs (184) (28,709) 29,247 354

(245,842) (48,686,382) 49,465,759 533,535

(ii) Interest rate risk
Interest rate risk is the risk that the fair value of future cash flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate because of 
changes in market interest rates.

The table below outlines the interest risk exposure of the Fund as at 31 December 2020.
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Less than
1 month

USD

1 month
-3 month

USD

More than 
3 month 

USD

Non-interest
bearing

USD
Total
USD

Assets
Financial assets at fair value  
through profit or loss  2,899,897  3,699,550  18,375,585 8,639,117 33,614,149
Due from broker - - - 3,299,535 3,299,535 
Cash and cash equivalents  718,115  -    -    -    718,115 
Cash held as collateral 1,520,022  -    -    -   1,520,022 
Total financial assets 5,138,034 3,699,550 18,375,585 11,938,652 39,151,821 

Liabilities
Cash received as collateral 160,000 - - - 160,000
Financial liabilities at fair value through 
profit or loss
- Financial derivatives instruments - - -  298,565  298,565
Administration fees payable - - -  1,848  1,848 
Directors’ fees payable - - -  16,262  16,262 
Depositary fees payable - - -  1,711  1,711 
Investment Management fees payable - - -  23,344  23,344 
Audit fees payable - - -  17,915  17,915 
Other payables - - -  20,662  20,662 
Total financial liabilities* 160,000 - - 380,307 540,307
Net financial assets and liabilities 4,978,034  3,699,550 18,375,585 11,558,345 38,611,514

* Exclusive of net assets attributable to holders of redeemable participating shares.

The table below outlines the interest risk exposure of the Fund as at 31 December 2019.

Less than
1 month

USD

1 month
-3 month

USD

More than 
3 month 

USD

Non-interest
bearing

USD
Total
USD

Assets
Financial assets at fair value 
through profit or loss 5,992,475 16,144,291 16,799,854   16,475,984 55,412,604
Cash and cash equivalents 1,655,672 - - - 1,655,672
Cash held as collateral 366,327 - - - 366,327
Total financial assets 8,014,474 16,144,291   16,799,854   16,475,984 57,434,603

Liabilities
Due to brokers - - - (195,369) (195,369) 
Administration fees payable - - - (5,716) (5,716)
Directors’ fees payable - - - (15,795) (15,795) 
Depositary fees payable - - - (1,568) (1,568) 
Audit fees payable - - - (13,348) (13,348) 
Investment management fees payable - - - (37,140) (37,140) 
Performance fees payable - - - (1,221) (1,221) 
Other payables - - - (25,971) (25,971) 
Total financial liabilities - - - (296,128) (296,128)
Net financial assets and liabilities 8,014,474 16,144,291   16,799,854 16,179,856 57,138,475
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(iii) Market price risk
Market price risk is the risk that the value of instruments will fluctuate as a result of changes in market prices (other 
than those arising from currency risk or interest rate risk), whether caused by factors specific to an individual invest-
ment, its issuer or all factors affecting all instruments traded in the market. The Fund’s investments are susceptible 
to market price risk arising from uncertainties about future prices of the instruments. The Fund seeks to balance risk 
across asset classes to minimise the negative effect of market downturns that may result from e.g. economic recessi-
ons or inflationary environments. The Fund uses quantitative models for asset allocation and portfolio construction 
purposes. The models are proprietary developed by the Investment Manager and aim to forecast, among other things, 
market trends and volatility.

The Fund may shift its allocation across markets, sectors and asset classes more frequently than traditional balan-
ced funds and FDI may comprise a substantial part of the investment universe.

As at 31 December 2020, the fair value of investments in securities and derivatives exposed to price risk were as 
follows:

31 December 2020
USD

31 December 2019
USD

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss
Investment funds - 5,162,345 
Financial derivative instruments
 -Forward contracts  1,683,637 -
 -Futures contracts 205,242   989,402
Total financial assets at fair value through profit or loss 1,888,879 6,151.747

Financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss
Financial derivative instruments
 -Forward contracts  274,262 -
 -Futures contracts   24,303 -
Total financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss 298,565 -
Total net financial assets and liabilities at fair value through 
profit or loss

1,590,314 6,151,747

Value-at-risk 
Under the Central Bank UCITS Regulations, the ICAV is required to employ a risk management process (“RMP”) 
which enables it to accurately monitor and manage the global exposure of the ICAV from derivatives. The exposure 
for the Fund is measured trough the commitment approach, which is monitored on a daily basis by the Investment 
Manager. However, the market risk generated by the Lynx program is also measured by the Investment Manager 
through the use of an Absolute Value-at-Risk (”VaR”) measure.

VaR is monitored in terms of absolute VaR defined as the VaR of the Fund as a percentage of Assets under Ma-
nagement (which for the Fund equals the NAV). The absolute VaR of the program should not be greater than 3%. 
VaR is measured over a holding period of one business day with a 95% confidence level and a historical observation 
period of not less than one year. The simulated returns are calculated using three different VaR -models. The three 
models give different weight to historical data and the model which gives the highest VaR will have priority.

The market risks of the Fund’s positions are monitored by the Investment Manager on a daily basis. VaR ana-
lysis represents the interdependencies between risk variables, unlike a traditional sensitivity analysis. VaR represents 
a statistical estimate of the potential losses from adverse changes in market factors for a specified time period and 
confidence level. 

VaR enables a comparison of risks across asset classes and serves as an indicator to the Investment Manager of the 
investment risk in a portfolio. If used in this way, and considering the limitations of VaR methods and the particular 
model chosen, it can act as a signal to the Investment Manager of an increase in the general level of risk in a portfolio 
and as a trigger for corrective action by the Investment Manager.

VaR analysis
The below table shows minimum, maximum and average VaR level as a percentage and VaR limit utilisation percen-
tage over the reporting period for the Lynx program for the year ended 31 December 2020:
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31 December 2020 Leverage Employed*
Limit Utilisation  

(VaR as % of Limit)

Minimum 3.95% 19.74% 
Maximum 17.13% 85.63%
Average 8.35% 41.75%
31 December 2020 13.95% 69.75%

31 December 2019 Leverage Employed*
Limit Utilisation (VaR 

as % of Limit)

Minimum 6.47% 32.37%
Maximum 16.51% 82.54% 
Average 10.22% 51.08%
31 December 2019 16.51% 82.54%

      *Leverage-figures are calculated using a 20 days holding period with a 99% confidence level.

(b) Credit risk 
Credit risk is the risk that the counterparty to a financial instrument will fail to discharge an obligation or commit-
ment that it has entered into with the Fund, resulting in a financial loss to the Fund. It arises principally from invest-
ment in treasury bills held and due from brokers. For risk management reporting purposes, the Fund considers and 
consolidates all elements of credit risk exposure (such as individual obligor default risk, country risk and sector risk).

The carrying amounts of financial assets represent the maximum credit risk exposure at 31 December 2020:

31 December 2020
USD

31 December 2019
USD

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss  33,614,149 50,250,259
Cash and cash equivalents  718,115 1,655,672 
Cash held as collateral 1,520,022 366,327
Due from Broker 3,299,535 -
Total financial assets 39,151,821 52,272,258

Credit risk relating to unsettled transactions is considered small due to the short-term settlement period. As at 31 
December 2020, the Fund had exposure to the following counterparties and their Standard & Poor’s long-term credit 
ratings are as follows:  

Financial assets Counterparty Credit rating USD
Cash and Cash equivalents HSBC Continental Europe, Dublin A+  718,115 
Cash held as collateral UBS Warburg Ltd. A+  1,520,022 
Due from Broker Morgan Stanley International BBB+ 3,298,003
Due from Broker Goldman Sachs Trading Branch A+ 1,532
Fixed income securities USA Government AA+  24,975,031 
Debt securities Alphabeta and Weser N/A  6,750,239 
Forward contracts Goldman Sachs Trading A+  1,005,632 
Forward contracts Morgan Stanley International BBB+  205,674 
Forward contracts UBS Warburg Ltd. Trading A+  472,331 
Future contracts Morgan Stanley International BBB+  205,242

As at 31 December 2019, the Fund had exposure to the following counterparties and their Standard & Poor’s long-
term credit ratings are as follows: 
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Financial assets Counterparty Credit rating USD
Cash and cash equivalents HSBC France, Dublin AA- 1,655,672 
Cash held as collateral Goldman Sachs Trading A+ 366,327 
Treasury bills USA Government AA+ 38,936,620 
Debt Securities Alphabeta and Weser N/A 10,324,237
Forward contracts Goldman Sachs Trading A+ 989,402

The Fund’s Investment Manager is responsible for identifying and controlling risks. The Board of Directors supervi-
ses the Investment Manager and is ultimately responsible for the overall risk management approach within the Fund. 
All the cash and cash equivalents and due from broker balances are held with counterparties with minimum ratings 
ranging from AA- to BBB+. The Fund did not recognise any impairment during the year ended 31 December 2020. 
The ICAV will also be exposed to a credit risk in relation to the counterparties with whom it transacts or places mar-
gin or collateral in respect of transactions in financial derivative instruments and may bear the risk of counterparty 
default.

The Fund’s credit risk is monitored on a quarterly basis by the Board of Directors.

(c) Liquidity risk 
Liquidity risk is the risk that an entity will encounter difficulty in meeting obligations associated with financial lia-
bilities. The Fund is exposed to daily cash redemptions of redeemable participating shares and monitors this activity 
to ensure that funds are available to meet the redemption requirements.

The Fund’s actively traded securities are considered to be readily realisable as they are actively traded on recogni-
sed stock exchanges. 

The Fund’s financial instruments also comprise investments in OTC derivative contracts, which are not traded in 
an organised public market and which generally may be illiquid. As a result, the Fund may not be able to liquidate 
quickly some of its investments in these instruments at an amount close to its fair value in order to meet its liquidity 
requirements, or to respond to specific events such as a deterioration in the credit worthiness of any particular issuer.

The table below analyses the Fund’s financial liabilities into relevant maturity groupings based on the remaining 
period at the statement of financial position date to the contractual maturity date. Balances due within 12 months 
equal their carrying balances, as the impact of discounting is not significant.

The following tables set out the Fund’s total exposure to liquidity risk as at 31 December 2020:

Less than
1 month

USD
1-3 month

USD
3-6 months 

USD

More than 
6 months

USD
Total
USD

Liabilities
Cash received as collateral 160,000 - - - 160,000
Financial liabilities at fair value through 
profit or loss 40,960 257,605 - - 298,565
Audit fees payable -  -    17,915 - 17,915
Administration fees payable 1,848 - - - 1,848
Directors’ fees payable - - 16,262 - 16,262
Depositary fees payable 1,711 - - - 1,711
Investment management fees payable 23,344 - - - 23,344
Other payables  12,989  7,673 - - 20,662
Net assets attributable to holders  
of redeemable participating shares 38,611,514 - - - 38,611,514
Total liabilities and redeemable  
participating shares 38,852,366  265,278  34,177 - 39,151,821

The principal investment strategies that involve foreign securities, derivatives or securities with substantial market 
and/or credit risk tend to have the greatest exposure to liquidity risk. The Investment Manager monitors the Funds’ 
liquidity position on a daily basis, focusing on both the requirements for liquidity and that suitable assets are able to 
meet such requirements.



40 Lynx UCITS Fund    |   Annual Report 2020 

The following tables set out the Fund’s total exposure to liquidity risk as at 31 December 2019:

Less than
1 month

USD
1-3 month

USD
3-6 months 

USD

More than 
6 months

USD
Total
USD

Liabilities
Due to brokers 195,369 - - - 195,369 
Audit fees payable - - 13,348 -  13,348 
Administration fees payable 5,716  -   - - 5,716
Directors’ fees payable - - 15,795 -  15,795 
Depositary fees payable 1,568 - - - 1,568
Investment management fees payable  37,140 - - -  37,140 
Performance fees payable 1,221 - - - 1,221 
Other payables 14,170 11,801 - -  25,971 
Net assets attributable to holders 
of redeemable participating shares 57,138,475 - - - 57,138,475
Total liabilities and redeemable  
participating shares 57,393,659 11,801 29,143 - 57,434,603

(d) Risks associated with unconsolidated structured entities
The table below summarises the Fund’s interest in unconsolidated structured entities as at 31 December 2020:

Issuer Name CCY

Outstanding 
Nominal issued by 
structured entity

% of notional 
issued by the 
structured entity 

Fair value of 
investments 

Maximum 
exposure to loss

Alphabeta Access 
Products Ltd. USD 4,066,006,325 0.13% 3,375,120 USD 3,375,120 
Weser Capital 
Series 6 Ltd. USD 3,000,000,000 0.17%  3,375,119 USD 3,375,119 

The Fund has a maximum exposure to the risk associated with the carrying value of the above transferable securities.
The table below summarises the Fund’s interest in unconsolidated structured entities as at 31 December 2019:

Issuer Name CCY

Outstanding 
Nominal issued by 
structured entity

% of notional 
issued by the 
structured entity 

Fair value of 
investments 

Maximum 
exposure to loss

Alphabeta Access 
Products Ltd. USD 2,590,432,250 0.24% 5,162,118 USD 5,162,118 
Weser Capital 
Series 6 Ltd. USD 2,500,000,000 0.25% 5,162,119 USD 5,162,119 

The Fund has a maximum exposure to the risk associated with the carrying value of the above transferable securities.

(e) Concentration Risk
Concentration risk arises when a number of counterparties are engaged in similar business activities, or activities 
in the same geographic region, or have similar economic features that would cause their ability to meet contractual 
obligations to be similarly affected by changes in economic, political or other conditions. Concentration indicates 
the relative sensitivity of the Fund’s performance to developments affecting a particular issuer, manager, asset class 
or geographical location of risk. In order to avoid excessive concentration of risk, the fund policies and procedures 
include specific guidelines to monitor the relevant risk concentrations on a periodic basis.

The Investment Manager reviews the concentration of financial instruments held based on geographical location 
of risk and industry.
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12.  OFFSETTING FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS
None of the financial assets or financial liabilities are offset in the Statement of Financial Position. The disclosures set 
out in the table below include financial assets and financial liabilities that are subject to an enforceable master netting 
arrangement or similar agreement that covers similar financial instruments. 

The International Swaps and Derivatives Association (“ISDA”) and similar master netting arrangements do not 
meet the criteria for offsetting in the Statement of Financial Position. This is because they create a right of set-off of 
recognised amounts that is enforceable only following an event of default, insolvency or bankruptcy of the Fund or 
the counterparties. In addition, the Fund and its counterparties do not intend to settle on a net basis or to realise the 
assets and settle the liabilities simultaneously.

The following table provides disclosure regarding the potential effect of netting arrangements on recognised assets 
and liabilities presented in the Statement of Financial Position as at 31 December 2020:

Financial assets

Gross 
amount of 
recognised 
financial 
assets
USD

Gross 
amounts 
of financial 
liabilities 
offset in the 
Statements 
of Financial 
Position
USD

Net amount 
of financial 
assets 
presented 
in the 
Statements 
of Financial 
Position
USD

Financial 
instrument 
(including 
non-cash 
collateral)
USD

Cash
collateral 
received
USD

Net
amount
USD

Goldman Sachs 
Trading 1,005,632 - 1,005,632 (43,724) (160,000) 801,908 
Morgan Stanley 
International 
Trading Activity 410,916 - 410,916 (95,827) - 315,089
UBS Warburg 
Ltd. Trading 472,331 - 472,331 (159,014) - 313,317
Total 1,888,879 - 1,888,879 (298,565) (160,000) 1,430,314

Financial 
liabilities

Gross 
amount of 
recognised 
financial 
liabilities
USD

Gross 
amounts 
of financial 
liabilities 
offset in the 
Statements 
of Financial 
Position
USD

Net amount 
of financial 
liabilities 
presented 
in the 
Statements 
of Financial 
Position
USD

Financial 
instrument 
(including 
non-cash 
collateral)
USD

Cash
collateral 
pledged
USD

Net
amount
USD

Goldman Sachs 
Trading  (43,724) - (43,724) 43,724 - -
Morgan Stanley 
International 
Trading Activity (95,827) - (95,827) 95,827 - -
UBS Warburg 
Ltd. Trading  (159,014) - (159,014) 159,014 - -
Total   (298,565) - (298,565) 298,565 - -

The following table provides disclosure regarding the potential effect of recognizes assets and liabilities presented in 
the Statement of Financial Position as at 31 December 2019:

Gross amounts not offset 
in the Statements of 
Financial Position

Gross amounts not offset 
in the Statements of 
Financial Position
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Financial 
assets

Gross 
amount of 
recognised 
financial
assets
USD

Gross 
amounts 
of financial 
liabilities 
offset in the 
Statements 
of Financial 
Position
USD

Net amount 
of financial 
assets 
presented 
in the 
Statements 
of Financial 
Position
USD

Financial 
instrument 
(including 
non-cash 
collateral)
USD

Cash
collateral 
received
USD

Net
amount
USD

Goldman Sachs 
Commodity 1,014,203 - 1,014,203 (24,801) - 989,402
Total 1,014,203 - 1,014,203 (24,801) - 989,402

Financial 
liabilities

Gross 
amount of 
recognised 
financial
liabilities
USD

Gross 
amounts 
of financial 
liabilities 
offset in the 
Statements 
of Financial 
Position
USD

Net amount 
of financial 
liabilities 
presented 
in the 
Statements 
of Financial 
Position
USD

Financial 
instrument 
(including 
non-cash 
collateral)
USD

Cash
collateral 
pledged
USD

Net
amount
USD

Goldman Sachs 
Commodity (24,801) - (24,801) 24,801 - -
Total (24,801) - (24,801) 24,801 - -

13.  NET ASSET VALUE TABLE
The following table discloses the dealing NAV, the shares in issue and NAV per share for each share class of the Fund 
as at 31 December 2020.

Shares in issue Net asset value Net asset value 
Share class per share
Class I USD 34 $37,809 $1,096.86 
Class E EUR# 20,949 €24,737,599 €1,180.85
Class I CHF# 25 CHF19,783 CHF784.414
Class I EUR# 6,939 €6,644,486 €957.529

The following table discloses the dealing NAV, the shares in issue and NAV per share for each share class of the Fund 
as at 31 December 2019.

Shares in issue Net asset value Net asset value 
Share class per share
Class E USD  5,051 $6,227,924 $1,232.92
Class I USD  1,739 $1,677,317 $964.48
Class I USD - series 03092019  600 $531,122 $885.21
Class D1 USD  15 $15,732 $1,051.58
Class E EUR#  26,147 €29,966,660 €1,146.07
Class E EUR - series 04112019#  300 €295,409 €984.70
Class E EUR - series 12122019#  46 €47,367 €1,019.95
Class I EUR#  10,132 €9,443,861 €932.12
Class I EUR - series 1 15052019#  2,078 €2,146,943 €1,033.10
Class I EUR - series 1 20082019#  850 €778,693 €916.11
Class I EUR - series 23102019#  200 €198,769 €993.85
Class I EUR - series 23122019#  500 €502,741 €1,005.48
Class I CHF#  36 CHF27,796 CHF765.32

# Hedged share classes.

Gross amounts not offset 
in the Statements of 
Financial Position

Gross amounts not offset 
in the Statements of 
Financial Position
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14. EXCHANGE RATES
The following foreign exchange rates were used to translate assets and liabilities into USD at the year end:

31 December 2020 31 December 2019
Australian Dollar  0.7684 -
British Pound Sterling  1.3593 -
Canadian Dollar  0.7839 -
Chinese Yuan Renminbi  0.1522 -
Euro  1.2285 1.1217
Hong Kong Dollar  0.1290 -
Hungarian Forint  0.0033 -
Japanese Yen  0.0097 -
Mexican Peso  0.0498 -
New Zealand Dollar  0.7131 -
Norwegian Krone  0.1165 -
Polish Zloty  0.2762 -
Singapore Dollar  0.7559 -
South African Rand  0.0685 -
Swedish Krona  0.1220 -
Swiss Francs  1.1317 1.0328
Turkish Lira  0.1254 -
 
15. RELATED PART Y TRANSACTIONS
IAS 24 ‘Related Party Disclosures’ requires the disclosure of information relating to material transactions with parties 
who are deemed to be related to the reporting entity. The following transactions with related parties were entered 
into during the financial year.

Brian Dunleavy is a Director of the ICAV and an employee of the Manager.
Marcus Andersson is a Director of the ICAV and a principal and a Director of the Investment Manager.
The Money Laundering Reporting Officer (“MLRO”) and the Secretary of the Fund are employees of KB Asso-

ciates which is part of the same economic group as the Manager. During the year ended 31 December 2020, MLRO 
fees amounting to USD 11,981 (2019: USD 9,177) were charged to the Fund of which USD 2,514 (2019: USD 
3,796) was outstanding at the year end. Secretary fees amounting to USD 5,144 (2019: USD 9,177) were charged 
to the Fund of which USD 2,514 (2019: USD 3,796) was outstanding at the year end. 

KB Associates also provides VAT and payroll services to the Fund. VAT services and payroll services fees amoun-
ting to USD 3,117 (2019: USD 4,624) were charged to the Fund of which USD 1,671 (2019: USD 2,321) was 
outstanding at the year end.

Lynx Asset Management AB is also the Investment Manager of Lynx (Cayman) Fund Limited. During the finan-
cial year ended 31 December 2020, the Fund purchased 6,179,918 (2019: 21,370,857) units and sold 12,498,136 
(2019: 15,052,639) units of Lynx (Cayman) Fund Limited. As on 31 December 2020, the market value of invest-
ments in Lynx (Cayman) Fund Limited is USD Nil (2019: USD 5,162,345)

None of the Directors of the ICAV hold or held shares in the Fund during the year ended 31 December 2020 
(2019: Nil)

The fees for the Directors, Investment Manager and the Manager are disclosed in Note 5 of the financial state-
ments.

With the exception of the above, there are no other related party transactions.

16. SIGNIFICANT EVENTS DURING THE YEAR
While the development of the COVID-19 pandemic has had a significant impact on the world, the Fund has been 
able to continue its investment activities as per normal. In March, the Directors, the Manager and the Investment 
Manager initiated procedures to directly address and mitigate the potential harm to people and the management of 
the Fund. The Directors still follow the situation carefully and in cooperation with the Manager and the Investment 
Manager, routines and processes are adjusted when necessary in order to manage the program effectively without 
risking the health of people or neglecting social responsibility. 
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An updated Supplement and Prospectus were issued on 29 May 2020. The Supplement included the minimum 
amount of Manager Fee per annum for the initial two sub-funds of the ICAV.

HSBC France, the depositary of the ICAV changed it’ s name to HSBC Continental Europe with effect from  
1 December 2020.

17. SUBSEQUENT EVENTS
While formal withdrawal of the United Kingdom from the Europe Union occurred on 31 January 2020, the Brexit 
transition period ended on 31 December 2020. The long term consequences remain to be seen, however, to date 
Brexit has not had a material impact for the Fund, neither operationally or legally.

An updated Prospectus of the ICAV and Supplement of the Fund was filed with the Central Bank of Ireland on 
9 March 2021. This was updated to reflect the requirements of Regulation (EU)2019/2088 of the   European Parlia-
ment and of the Council on 27 November 2019 on sustainability-related disclusures in the financial services sector 
under the Sustainable Finance Disclosure Regulations (”SFDR”). 

The Directors of the Fund have evaluated the need for disclosures and adjustments resulting from subsequent 
events through 22 April 2021, the date the financial statements were available to be issued. The evaluation did not 
result in any other subsequent events that necessitated disclosures and/or adjustments.

18. COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENTS
The Fund does not have any commitments and contingents as at 31 December 2020. 

19. APPROVAL OF FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
The financial statements were approved by the Board of Directors on 22 April 2021.
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SCHEDULE OF INVESTMENTS (UNAUDITED)   
As at 31 December 2020

Fair Value % of Net Asset
Holdings Description USD Value

financial assets at fair value through profit or loss

Fixed Income Securities
United States

 1,600,000 US Treasury Bill 0% 11/01/2021  1,599,958  4.14 
 1,300,000 US Treasury Bill 0% 28/01/2021  1,299,939  3.37 
 3,000,000 US Treasury Bill 0% 25/02/2021  2,999,673  7.77 

 700,000 US Treasury Bill 0% 25/03/2021  699,877  1.81 
 1,806,000 US Treasury Bill 0% 15/04/2021  1,805,526  4.68 
 2,000,000 US Treasury Bill 0% 22/04/2021  1,999,471  5.18 

 500,000 US Treasury Bill 0% 29/04/2021  499,859  1.29 
 1,000,000 US Treasury Bill 0% 20/05/2021  999,669  2.59 
 2,800,000 US Treasury Bill 0% 27/05/2021  2,799,027  7.25 

 745,000 US Treasury Bill 0% 03/06/2021  744,713  1.93 
 2,034,000 US Treasury Bill 0% 17/06/2021  2,033,145  5.27 

 500,000 US Treasury Bill 0% 09/09/2021  499,702  1.29 
 2,000,000 US Treasury Bill 0% 07/10/2021  1,998,599  5.18 
 4,500,000 US Treasury Bill 0% 04/11/2021  4,496,340  11.65 

 500,000 US Treasury Bill 0% 02/12/2021  499,533  1.29 
Total Fixed Income Securities  24,975,031  64.69 

Debt Securities
 5,097,151 Oder Capital Series 6 3,375,120 8.74
 5,097,151 Weser Capital Series 6 3,375,119 8.74

Total Debt Securities  6,750,239  17.48 

Futures Contracts1

Australia
8 SPI 200 Index Future 18/03/2021 5,494 0.01

5,494 0.01
Germany

5 DAX Index Future 19/03/2021  34,136  0.09 
 34,136  0.09 

Hong Kong
3 H-Shares Index Future 28/01/2021 4,386 0.01

14 Hang Seng Index Future 28/01/2021  66,536  0.17
 70,922  0.18 

Italy
3 FTSE/MIB Index Future 19/03/2021  1,978  0.01 

 1,978  0.01 
Japan

4 Nikkei 225 Index (OSE) Future 11/03/2021 30,783 0.08
5 Topix Index Future 11/03/2021  8,760  0.02 

 39,543  0.10 
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Singapore
50 FTSE China A50 Index Future 28/01/2021 14,049  0.04 
3 Nikkei 225 Index (SGX) Future 11/03/2021  13,901 0.03

 27,950  0.07 
United States

38 AUDUSD Currency Future 15/03/2021  43,762  0.11 
10 CHF Currency Future 15/03/2021  5,694  0.02 
19 Djia Mini e-CBOT Index Future 19/03/2021  27,115  0.07 

4 Emin Russell 2000 Index Future 19/03/2021  3,393  0.01 
39 Euro FX Currency Future 15/03/2021  64,100  0.17 
26 GBP Currency Future 15/03/2021  11,912  0.03 
94 JPN Yen Currency Future 15/03/2021  50,026  0.13 
10 Mini MSCI Emerging Markets Future 19/03/2021  18,730  0.05 

2 Nasdaq 100 E-Mini Future 19/03/2021  3,980  0.01 
18 S&P 500 E-Mini Future 19/03/2021  40,332  0.10 

 269,044  0.70 
Total unrealised appreciation on open futures contracts  449,067  1.16 

Forward Contracts2

EUR32,303,487 / USD38,681,454 04/01/2021  1,005,157  2.60 
SEK28,100,000 / USD3,328,247 17/03/2021  103,745  0.27 
NZD6,640,000 / USD4,695,677 17/03/2021  89,837  0.23 
ZAR39,700,000 / USD2,626,565 17/03/2021  67,001  0.17 
GBP3,200,000 / USD4,286,104 17/03/2021  65,546  0.17 
EUR4,000,000 / USD4,857,838 17/03/2021  64,389  0.17 
AUD3,550,000 / USD2,668,401 17/03/2021  60,839  0.16 
SGD6,690,000 / USD5,004,245 17/03/2021  53,024  0.14 
TRY7,010,000 / USD880,408 17/03/2021  46,682  0.12 
JPY867,500,000 / USD8,360,039 17/03/2021  44,781  0.12 
NOK13,400,000 / USD1,535,427 17/03/2021  30,991  0.08 
CNH46,200,000 / USD7,033,520 17/03/2021  27,848  0.07 
CHF875,000 / USD983,927 17/03/2021  8,574  0.02 
MXN14,300,000 / USD705,049 17/03/2021  6,731  0.02 
CAD710,000 / USD554,213 17/03/2021  2,550  0.01 
USD192,818 / PLN710,000 17/03/2021  2,343  0.01 
USD558,073 / CAD710,000 17/03/2021  1,310 -
USD118,559 / HUF35,000,000 17/03/2021  749  -   
HUF58,000,000 / USD194,648 17/03/2021  580  -   
CHF19,581 / USD21,701 04/01/2021  462  -   
USD139,823 / MXN2,800,000 17/03/2021  454  -   
USD12,231 / SEK100,000 17/03/2021  17  -   
USD17,013 / GBP12,500 17/03/2021  14  -   
USD14,191 / CHF12,500 17/03/2021  13  -   
Total Forward Contracts  1,683,637 4.36

Total Financial Assets at Fair Value
Through Profit or Loss 33,857,974 87.69
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Fair Value % of Net Asset
Holdings Description USD Value

financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss

Futures Contracts1

Canada 
5 S&P/TSX 60 Index Future 18/03/2021  (1,342) -

 (1,342) -
France 

(8) CAC40 10 Euro Future 15/01/2021  (7,868)  (0.02)
 (7,868)  (0.02)

Germany  
(23) Dow Jones EURO STOXX 50 Index Future 19/03/2021  (9,852)  (0.03)

 (9,852)  (0.03)
Netherlands 

(2) Amsterdam Index Future 15/01/2021  (4,243)  (0.01)
 (4,243)  (0.01)

Sweden 
17 OMXS30 Index Future 15/01/2021  (2,722)  (0.01)

 (2,722)  (0.01)
United Kingdom 

(12) FTSE 100 Index Future 19/03/2021  (4,288)  (0.01)
 (4,288)  (0.01)

United States 
(10) CAD Currency Future 16/03/2021  (5,035)  (0.01)

(2) Mini MSCI EAFE Index Future 19/03/2021  (2,335)  (0.01)
 (7,370)  (0.02)

Total unrealised depreciation on open futures contracts  (37,685)  (0.10)

Forward Contracts2

USD3,020,408 / GBP2,262,500 17/03/2021  (56,342)  (0.15)
USD694,813 / TRY5,660,000 17/03/2021  (53,733)  (0.14)
USD2,326,271 / EUR1,924,224 04/01/2021  (37,744)  (0.10)
USD1,144,923 / NZD1,620,000 17/03/2021  (22,625)  (0.06)
USD725,697 / SEK6,100,000 17/03/2021  (19,325)  (0.05)
USD745,904 / AUD990,000 17/03/2021  (15,208)  (0.04)
USD1,065,611 / EUR875,000 17/03/2021  (11,125)  (0.03)
USD2,023,883 / JPY210,000,000 17/03/2021  (10,716)  (0.03)
PLN2,020,000 / USD551,344 17/03/2021  (9,428)  (0.02)
MXN38,000,000 / USD1,898,904 17/03/2021  (7,459)  (0.02)
USD466,402 / MXN9,500,000 17/03/2021  (6,460)  (0.02)
EUR31,412,058 / USD38,623,387 01/02/2021  (5,965)  (0.02)
USD638,455 / CAD820,000 17/03/2021  (4,569)  (0.01)
HUF106,000,000 / USD360,925 17/03/2021  (4,130)  (0.01)
USD367,167 / SGD490,000 17/03/2021  (3,248)  (0.01)
USD678,339 / CNH4,450,000 17/03/2021  (1,819)  -   
JPY127,500,000 / USD1,236,986 17/03/2021  (1,694)  -   
USD225,938 / CHF200,000 17/03/2021  (920)  -   
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USD69,590 / NOK600,000 17/03/2021  (549)  -   
ZAR2,900,000 / USD197,067 17/03/2021  (307)  -   
USD67,624 / ZAR1,000,000 17/03/2021  (224)  -   
CAD160,000 / USD125,626 17/03/2021  (156)  -   
TRY360,000 / USD47,737 17/03/2021  (127)  -   
CHF137,500 / USD156,084 17/03/2021  (122)  -   
GBP162,500 / USD221,097 17/03/2021  (116)  -   
SEK400,000 / USD48,928 17/03/2021  (74)  -   
CNH1,050,000 / USD160,521 17/03/2021  (36)  -   
EUR100,000 / USD123,073 17/03/2021  (19)  -   
CHF19,799 / USD22,444 01/02/2021  (15)  -   
SGD150,000 / USD113,398 17/03/2021  (7)  -   
Total Forward Contracts  (274,262)  (0.71)

Total Financial Liabilities at Fair Value
Through Profit or Loss  (311,947) (0,81)

Total Financial Assets and Liabilities at Fair 
Through Profit or Loss 33,546,027 86.88

Other net assets 5,065,487 13.12

Net Assets Attributable to 
Holders of Redeemable Participating Shares  38,611,514 100.00 

1 The counterparty for futures contracts is Morgan Stanley International.
2 The counterparty for forward contracts is Goldman Sachs, Morgan Stanley International and UBS Warburg Ltd.

.

Analysis of Total Assets Amount USD  % of Total Asset

Transferable securities admitted to an official
stock exchange listing 24,975,031   63.79 
Transferable securities dealt on another regulated market 6,750,239 17.24
Financial derivative instruments traded over-the-counter  1,409,375  3.60 
Financial derivative instruments traded on a regulated market  411,382  1.05 
Cash and other current assets 5,605,794 14.32
Total Asset 39,151,821  100.00 
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All Purchases Cost in USD
US Treasury Bill 0% 09/07/2020  5,956,763 
Oder Capital Series 6  4,728,096 
Weser Capital Series 6  4,728,096 
US Treasury Bill 0% 10/09/2020  4,590,822 
US Treasury Bill 0% 04/11/2021  4,495,492 
Lynx (Cayman) Fund Limited  4,020,031 
US Treasury Bill 0% 21/12/2020  3,996,943 
US Treasury Bill 0% 25/06/2020  2,998,217 
US Treasury Bill 0% 25/02/2021  2,996,693 
US Treasury Bill 0% 23/07/2020  2,978,120 
US Treasury Bill 0% 27/05/2021  2,798,973 
US Treasury Bill 0% 27/11/2020  2,468,136 
US Treasury Bill 0% 17/06/2021  2,032,968 
US Treasury Bill 0% 24/09/2020  1,999,665 
US Treasury Bill 0% 03/12/2020  1,998,849 
US Treasury Bill 0% 22/04/2021  1,998,625 
US Treasury Bill 0% 07/10/2021  1,998,390 
US Treasury Bill 0% 14/05/2020  1,998,277 
US Treasury Bill 0% 05/11/2020  1,997,353 
US Treasury Bill 0% 13/08/2020  1,984,682 
US Treasury Bill 0% 15/04/2021  1,805,150 
US Treasury Bill 0% 17/12/2020  1,798,804 
US Treasury Bill 0% 21/01/2021  1,599,295 
US Treasury Bill 0% 12/11/2020  1,499,012 
US Treasury Bill 0% 10/12/2020  1,320,764 
US Treasury Bill 0% 27/08/2020  1,299,280 
US Treasury Bill 0% 28/01/2021  1,299,185 
US Treasury Bill 0% 20/05/2021  999,185 
US Treasury Bill 0% 08/10/2020  998,007 

All Sales Proceeds in USD
US Treasury Bill 0% 26/03/2020  13,985,979 
Lynx (Cayman) Fund Limited  7,864,559 
US Treasury Bill 0% 14/05/2020  6,998,641 
Oder Capital Series 6  6,108,973 
Weser Capital Series 6  6,108,973 
US Treasury Bill 0% 21/05/2020  5,999,834 
US Treasury Bill 0% 09/07/2020  5,999,225 
US Treasury Bill 0% 30/01/2020  5,997,472 
US Treasury Bill 0% 10/09/2020  4,599,414 
US Treasury Bill 0% 31/12/2020  3,999,885 
US Treasury Bill 0% 11/06/2020  3,099,867 
US Treasury Bill 0% 25/06/2020  2,999,818 
US Treasury Bill 0% 23/07/2020  2,999,769 

SCHEDULE OF PORTFOLIO CHANGES (UNAUDITED)  
For the year ended 31 December 2020
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US Treasury Bill 0% 27/11/2020  2,469,923 
US Treasury Bill 0% 27/02/2020  2,197,628 
US Treasury Bill 0% 24/09/2020  1,999,950 
US Treasury Bill 0% 03/12/2020  1,999,949 
US Treasury Bill 0% 05/11/2020  1,999,838 
US Treasury Bill 0% 13/08/2020  1,999,762 
US Treasury Bill 0% 17/12/2020  1,799,963 
US Treasury Bill 0% 12/11/2020  1,499,956 
US Treasury Bill 0% 23/04/2020  1,499,503 
US Treasury Bill 0% 10/12/2020  1,321,976 
US Treasury Bill 0% 30/04/2020  1,299,980 
US Treasury Bill 0% 27/08/2020  1,299,929 
US Treasury Bill 0% 08/10/2020  999,974 

The portfolio changes reflect the aggregate purchases of a security exceeding one percent of the total value of 
purchases and aggregate disposals of a security greater than one percent of the total sales for the year. At a mini-
mum the largest 20 purchases and largest 20 sales must be given. The full listing of the portfolio changes for the 
year is available, upon request, at no extra cost from the Administrator.
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APPENDIX (UNAUDITED) 

TOTAL EXPENSE RATIO
The Total Expense Ratio (“TER”) is calculated according to the following formula: (total expenses / AF)*
100;

AF (= average fund assets)

% 
31 December 2020

% 
31 December 2019

Total Expense Ratio 1.10% 1.11%

THE SECURITIES FINANCING TRANSACTION REGULATION DISCLOSURE
The Securities Financing Transactions Regulation (“SFTR”) introduces mandatory reporting for Securities

Financing Transactions (“SFTs”) and sets minimum disclosure and consent requirements on the re-use of col-
lateral with the aim of improving transparency in the SFT market.

A SFT is defined as per Article 3(11) of the SFTR as:

• a repurchase transaction;
• securities or commodities lending and securities or commodities borrowing;
• any transaction having an equivalent economic effect, in particular a buy-sell back transaction or sell-buy back 

transaction; or
• a margin lending transaction.

As at 31 December 2020, the Fund held no SFTs and therefore SFT reporting requirements do not apply to 
the Fund.

UCITS V REMUNERATION DISCLOSURES
The Manager has designed and implemented a remuneration policy (the “Policy”) in line with the provisions of S.I. 
257 of 2013 European Union (Alternative Investment Fund Managers) Regulations 2013 (“AIFM Regulations”), 
s.I. 352 of 2011 European Communities (Undertakings for Collective Investment in Transferable Securities) Regu-
lations 2011 (as amended) (“UCITS Regulations”) and of the ESMA Guidelines on sound remuneration policies 
under the UCITS Directive and AIFMD (the “ESMA Guidelines”).

The Manager’s remuneration policy applies to its identified staff whose professional activities might have a ma-
terial impact on the ICAV’s risk profile and so covers senior management, risk takers, control functions and any 
employees receiving total remuneration that takes them into the same remuneration bracket as senior management 
and risk takers and whose professional activities have a material impact on the risk profile of the ICAV. The Manager’s 
policy is to pay identified staff a fixed component with the potential for identified staff to receive a variable compo-
nent. It is intended that the fixed component will represent a sufficiently high proportion of the total remuneration 
of the individual to allow the Manager to operate a fully flexible policy, with the possibility of not paying any variable 
component. When the Manager pays a variable component as performance related pay certain criteria, as set out 
in the Manager’s remuneration policy, must be adhered to. The various remuneration components are combined 
to ensure an appropriate and balanced remuneration package that reflects the relevant staff rank and professional 
activity as well as best market practice. The Manager’s remuneration policy is consistent with, and promotes, sound 
and effective risk management and does not encourage risk-taking which is inconsistent with the risk profile of the 
funds it manages. 

These disclosures are made in respect of the remuneration policies of the Manager. The disclosures are made in 
accordance with the ESMA guidelines. 
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REMUNERATION DISCLOSURE OF THE MANAGER  
Total remuneration (in EUR) paid to the identified staff of the Manager fully or partly involved in the activities of 
the ICAV that have a material impact on the ICAV’s risk profile during the financial year ended 31 December 2020:    

31 December 2020
EUR

Fixed remuneration
Senior management  875,842 
Other identified staffs -

Variable remuneration
Senior management 94,667 
Other identified staffs -
Total remuneration paid 970,509

Number of beneficiaries: 10
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